ABOUT THE COVER
The cover for this report was designed by Robert C. Terrel. Its conception has a rather
interesting background and the emblem displayed has more than passing significance.
Mr. Terrel’s artistic abilities are well known; he has considerable knowledge of our
Town’s history and was an expert in heraldry; an art of increasing interest in recent years.
After considerable historical research and preliminary sketching, Mr. Terrell invented (a
term used in heraldry rather than such words as design or conceive) the distinctive
emblem illustrated on the cover of this report.
The geometric shape of the shield is that used in heraldry to symbolize the chronological
era during which Madison was founded. The ship’s wheel at top center is symbolic of
the shipbuilding and maritime commerce in which Madison was engaged during this
same period. The fish at the lower left represents the whitefish industry (the fish is now
known mostly as mossbunker or menhaden) and the ear of corn at lower right signified
the extensive farming of produce, most of which was shipped to New York by water from
West Wharf after being brought there by oxcart.
The design is copyrighted in the name of the Town of Madison. It is incorporated in all
town office’s letterheads and it is the design of the town seal which has been approved by
the Secretary of State as required by state statute. It has been approved by Town Meeting
as the official emblem of the Town of Madison.
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To the Residents and Taxpayers of Madison

We are pleased to submit to you, the residents, the 2017-2018 Annual Report for the Town of
Madison. This report provides the highlights of our actions taken by our Boards, Commissions and
Town Departments over the course of the year.
Our Town continues to be recognized as a wonderful place to live and work. We have the benefit of
dedicated and highly qualified town employees as well as a wealth of talent provided by the hundreds
of citizens who volunteer their time and efforts. Our elected officials provide the necessary
leadership to maintain our quality of life in a fiscally responsible environment.
We believe our town is a very special place and it was our pleasure to work with you to address the
needs of our citizens.

Thomas J. Banisch

First Selectman

Alfred J. Goldberg
Scott M. Murphy
Bruce H. Wilson
Jean W. Ferris

Board of Selectmen
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BOARD OF SELECTMEN
Thomas J. Banisch, First Selectman

The Board of Selectmen forms the executive branch of Town government. The Board is
comprised of five (5) members consisting of a First Selectman and four (4) selectmen. Each
member is elected to serve a two-year term.
The Board of Selectmen meets twice monthly on the second Monday at 8:30 a.m. and the fourth
Monday at 7:00 p.m. Exceptions occur when a holiday falls on a Monday. These are meetings
that are held in public and public participation is scheduled at the beginning of each meeting. In
addition, the Board may meet for a special meeting as required to meet town business.
In 2017-2018, the Selectmen met for twenty one (21) regular meetings, fourteen (14) special
meetings, and one (1) emergency meeting. The minutes of these meetings are available on the
town website at www.madisonct.org and are on file in the Town Clerk’s Office. The Board also
sponsored multiple budget workshops in preparation of the annual town budget and held several
public hearings on topics relevant to town business and interests of our citizens.
Highlights for 2017-2018
Over the past year my Administration has undertaken the following projects in an effort to
ensure that Madison tax dollars are being spent wisely and that procedures are in place to better
maintain and manage town assets:


Continuation of Energy Efficiency measures throughout Town



Established an Ad Hoc Academy School Guidance Committee to work through the due
diligence process of soliciting public opinion on the future of the school. An outside
consultant was hired to conduct a survey and provide informational workshops to further
educate the Town on the status of the building and its potential future use.

Other accomplishments


Oversaw the establishment of the Strategic Plan process which



Supported enhanced employee training programs. Enhanced training provides better
customer service to our citizens. Madison employees spent the last year undergoing a
variety of training in programs such as Sexual Harassment to Municipal Customer
Service. Training through the Connecticut Conference of Municipalities (CCM) is
without cost to the Town.



Continued to monitor health insurance costs and possible plan changes to provide costsavings to the Town. Through this effort, enhanced health & wellness initiatives were
3

supported. All wellness programs that the Town has run for reducing stress, weight
management and fitness have been supported through Anthem Wellness Funds.


Oversaw the establishment of the Town’s Risk Manager to ensure compliance with
industry standards within our buildings and office locations.



Continued to seek requests for proposals for all services that have not been reviewed in
the past five years, including: Health Insurance, Town Pension Plans, Auditor Services
and Liability Insurance.



Established or revised Town Ordinances for Work Within the Right-of-Way of Public
Roads, Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination of Stormwater, among others.



Negotiated a Lease with Our Lady of Mercy Preparatory School for the use of Island
Avenue School for the 2019 – 2020 school year.
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BOARD OF FINANCE
Jean Fitzgerald, Chairman
The Board of Finance is responsible for the financial and accounting operations of the Town of
Madison. The Board is comprised of six (6) elected members serving four-year terms.
The duties and responsibilities of the Board of Finance, as outlined in the Town Charter, include
preparing the annual budget, enacting regulations to implement fiscal policies, approving special
appropriations and line item transfers, reviewing financial records and accounts, overseeing the
annual audit, establishing policies and funding levels for reserve accounts and setting an annual tax
rate.
The Board of Finance generally meets on the third Wednesday of each month at 7:00 p.m. In 20172018 the Board met for eleven (11) regular meetings, and seven (7) special meetings. Additional
budget workshops were also held and one budget public hearing.
The Board of Finance submitted the Town and Education budgets for 2018-2019 to the voters
following budget workshops and public hearings. The recommended budgets were approved by the
voters following a single referendum. The 2018-2019 budget for the Board of Education is
$58,103,711 an increase of 2.08%, while the Town budget is $24,963,490, a decrease of .01%,
resulting in a total of $83,067,201 for a total 1.44% increase. The mil rate was set by the Board of
Finance on May 16, 2018 at 28.04.
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OFFICE OF THE ASSESSOR
Orietta Nucolo, CCMA II, Assessor

Grand List
The Town of Madison October 1, 2017 Net Taxable Grand List is 2,904,384,925. This
represents an overall increase of 0.54% from the October 1, 2016 Net Taxable Grand
List. The Net Taxable Grand List figures include the March Board of Assessment
Appeals adjustments for each year.
The following is a summary of the 2017 Grand List.
GRAND LIST 2017

Real Estate
Motor Vehicles
Personal Property

Accounts

Gross Assessment

8,464

2,962,941,900

17,600

167,606,825

931

62,627,330

Gross Grand List

3,193,176,055

Real Estate Exempt

(280,093,700)

Exemptions

(8,697,430)

Net Taxable Grand List

2,904,384,925

6

Tax Office Monthly Report ‐ June 2018
Collections
Current Year Taxes*
Back Taxes
Interest
Lien Fees
Total

Budget
$77,497,359
$157,500
$150,000
$1,600
$77,806,459

June Collection

$69,060
$23,877
$11,021
$312
$104,270

YTD
$78,263,566
$181,173
$180,905
$1,695
$78,627,339

*2016 GL Beginning Levy was $78,396,095.80
% Collected as of June is 99.83, compared to 99.54 last year
June Advanced Collection for 2017 Grand List ‐ $ 5,807,687.94
Unpaid Balances as of 6/30/18:
Grand List
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Total

Deferred

Unpaid Taxes**

$1,340.84
$4,240.14
$4,201.93
$8,966.78
$9,856.32
$18,384.32
$25,104.58
$26,024.14
$35,769.76
$43,258.42
$48,720.54
$53,768.54
$68,394.12
$147,522.11
$393,881.08
$889,433.62
**Includes Deferred
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‐
‐
‐
$8,966.78
$9,856.32
$18,384.32
$25,104.58
$26,024.14
$35,769.76
$45,258.42
$48,720.54
$53,768.54
$68,108.18
$80,981.26
$124,757.88
$545,700.72

%
100.99
115.03
120.60
105.93
101.06

Remaining
($766,207)
($23,673)
($30,905)
($95)
($820,880)

BOARD OF ASSESSMENT APPEALS
William Lewis, Chairman

The Madison Board of Assessment Appeals is an elected five member board. During the
month of March 2018, the Board of Assessment Appeals heard grievances for real and
personal property. Motor Vehicle assessment appeals were heard in September 2018.
As a result of the Board’s decisions a total decrease for the October 1, 2017 Grand List
assessment is broken down as follows:
Real Estate
Personal Property
Motor Vehicle
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266,200
390
108,086

TOWN CLERK
Nancy J. Martucci, CCTC, CMC, Town Clerk
The Town Clerk’s Office is responsible for recording land records, filing, preserving all
records, and other various documents for our Town. The Town Clerk is also the
Registrar of Vital Statistics and maintains all vital records. Public documents include the
Town Boards and Commissions minutes, land records, ordinances and the official
meeting schedule. The public may inspect our records each day during regular office
hours.
Our Town was incorporated in 1826. The legislative body of the Town is the “Town
Meeting”. The Annual Town Meeting, Budget and Budget Reconciliation meetings are
held during the year with notification published in our local paper. Town Meetings
consider and take action on resolutions recommended by the Board of Selectmen.
Resolutions pertaining to financial matters require recommendations from the Board of
Selectmen and Board of Finance.
Town Officials, elected biannually, include the Board of Selectmen, Board of Finance,
Board of Education, Board of Assessment Appeals, Zoning Board of Appeals, and
Zoning Board of Appeals Alternate.
Recorded land records from November 1986 and forward can be viewed and printed from
the internet site generated by our recording company at www.uslandrecords.com. Each
year the Town Clerk’s office applies for and receives the Historic Preservation Grant
offered by the Connecticut State Library. In recent years the grant has been used to
convert several years of land record microfilm to digital images that are then loaded onto
our Grantor/Grantee indexes. This allows access to view or print recorded land records
not only from the public computers in the office but through the internet site as well.
As Registrar of Vital Statistics we issue marriage licenses, burial and cremation permits,
record birth and death certificates, and issue certified copies.
2017-2018 fiscal year:





111 birth certificates
184 death certificates
132 marriage licenses processed
24 marriage licenses received from other Connecticut towns where Madison
residents married

The State of Connecticut requires all dogs be licensed when they become six months of
age and every year thereafter in the month of June. Reminder notices are sent to current
owners at the end of May. Now in its 15th year, the Town Clerk’s office holds a random
drawing for the #1 tag referred to as the “Top Dog Contest”.
 2017-2018 Top Dog: Kelsey Kansas Letkowski
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Furthermore, Trade name certificates and liquor licenses are issued and/or recorded.
Requests for Veteran’s exemptions are processed through the Town Clerk’s office by
way of filing an original DD-214 discharge.
Town residents can register to vote on a daily basis in the Clerk’s office in addition to the
Registrar of Voter’s office. By state statute, the Town Clerk is responsible for the issuing
of absentee ballots for any election or vote.
During fiscal year 2017-2018 the Town Clerk’s office:
 Recorded 3,296 documents on the Land Records
 Processed $872,595 in fees

SUMMARY OF TOWN MEETING RECORDS
July 1, 2017 – June 30, 2018
Special Town Meeting: September 14, 2017
 Shall the Town of Madison appropriate $34,384,000 for demolition of the existing
Ryerson Elementary School and design,, construct, furnishing and equipping of a new
kindergarten through third grade elementary school on the same parcel as the existing
school, and authorize the issuance of bonds and notes in an amount sufficient to
finance the portion of the appropriation not defrayed from grants (an anticipated net
project cost of between $28,584,000 and $30,284,000)?”
Ryerson Elementary School Referendum: September 26, 2017
Question as stated above.
Yes: 1,452
No: 2,722
Total Electors: 13,007
Total Electors Voted 4,200
Special Town Meeting: October 23, 2017
 Approve the amendment and restatement of the Retirement Plan for the employees of
the Town of Madison, Connecticut
Municipal Election – Madison Results: November 7, 2017
Total Electors 13,071 Total Votes 3,793
First Selectman: Thomas Banisch (R)
Board of Selectmen: Al Goldberg (D), Scott Murphy (D), Jean Ferris (R),
Bruce Wilson, Jr. (R)
Annual Town Meeting: January 25, 2018
 Received the Annual Report of the Permanent Boards, Commissions, Agencies,
Committees and the Town’s Auditor Report in accordance with Article II, Section
2.1.4.1 of the Town Charter
Special Town Meeting: February 26, 2018
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Approve a Special Appropriation request from the Board of Education in the amount
of $270,000 to fund a Furniture Plan in the Capital Non-Recurring Expenditure Fund
(CNRE)

Special Town Meeting: March 26, 2018
 Approve a Special Appropriation request in the amount of $350,000 to transfer funds
to the Debt Service Reserve Fund: pending Board of Finance Approval
Special Town Meeting: April 24, 2018
 Approve a Special Appropriation request from the Public Works Department in the
amount of $10,000 for the removal of wood and brush from town roadways and the
transfer station
 Approve a Water Storage Tank / Access Easement to the Connecticut Water
Company
Budget Referendum: May 15, 2018
 $24,963,490 - Town Government Budget
YES – 884
NO – 658
 $58,103,711- Education Budget
YES – 905 NO – 643
Total Electors 13,117 Total Votes 1,577 plus 13 taxpayers
Annual Budget Reconciliation Town Meeting: June 26, 2018
 A Special Appropriation request from the E.C. Scranton Memorial Library in the
amount of $600,000 for the Towns share of pre-construction costs
 A Special Appropriation request from Public Works Department in the amount of
$49,500 for snow removal services for the 2017-2018 season
 A Special Appropriation request from the Police Department in the amount of
$60,000 for OT Replacement
 A Special Appropriation request from HR in the amount of $75,0000 for a Heart and
Hypertension claim for Lieutenant Dobbin
 A Special Appropriation request from Board of Education in the amount of $120,000
to fund the Effective School Solutions program in Fiscal Year 2018-2019; pending
approval at the June 16, 2018 Regular Meeting of the Board of Selectmen at 7:00
p.m.
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MADISON POLICE DEPARTMENT
Message from the Chief John “Jack” Drumm
I am pleased to provide you with the 2017/18 Annual Report, my eighth since appointment as
your Chief of Police in January 2010. I stand most proud as I reflect upon the many
accomplishments obtained by the Madison Police Department and its members over the last five
and one half years, and with the development of the “new” Madison Police Department and the
many great changes that have occurred. I would like to dedicate the Annual Report to the Men
and Woman of the Madison Police Department, “the next generation” of officers and leaders for
this great agency.
I wish to extend my sincere thanks and appreciation to the Madison Board of Police
Commissioners, the Board of Selectmen, the Board of Finance and you, the citizens of Madison,
for your continued support of our agency. Without that strong support, it would be difficult for us
to successfully accomplish our mission to provide the highest level of professional police
services to this community.
I thank the members, both sworn and civilian, for their continued support of this Department and
its mission; we are very fortunate to have such a dedicated group of men and women. Compared
to our neighboring communities, the Madison Police Department continues to accomplish “more
with less”. I also need to thank our Executive Assistant, Christie Hodge, for all her work on
behalf of the Police Department and Madison.
I must also acknowledge the hard work on behalf of our community that all members of the
Madison Police Department, to include the officers, civilian staff, support units and dispatchers,
provide with their selfless outstanding efforts made both during the holiday season and
throughout each year. Selflessly and on their own time this group of community-minded public
employees once again conducted one of the most successful Food and Toy Drives for the
Madison Community and beyond.
During the holidays, these folks collected food and toys for approximately 25 families and 40
children in need who live in Madison. In addition, they collected food and toys to assist the
Madison Food Bank, the women’s and family shelters in New Haven, Fair Haven and Clinton,
and of especially great pleasure, conduct and once again deliver the results of one of the largest
toy drives to the steps of the Yale New Haven Children’s Hospital for the Toy Closet!
The Department continues to proudly assist our neighboring communities.
The Madison Police Department had 11,790 calls for service this past fiscal year, averaging over
32 calls for service daily. The “Federal Bureau of Investigation Uniform Crime Reports” for year
2016-2017 has once again shown the Madison Police Department with an increased ‘solve rate’
for reported crimes. This is a job well done and an honor earned by the men and women of this
Department. The full Police Department Annual Report can be found at www.madisonct.org
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PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION
Ronald C. Clark, Chairman
The Planning and Zoning Commission met a total of twenty-three times during the 2017-2018
fiscal year. Eleven meetings were regular meetings, eleven were planning meetings, and one
was a site walk. Regular meetings are normally scheduled for the third Thursday of the month
and Planning meetings are scheduled for the first Thursday of the month except when there is a
conflict with a holiday. Special meetings are scheduled to accommodate the statutory time
constraints of an application.
A total of forty new applications were received by the Commission during the fiscal year, some
of which included multiple types of review. Coastal Site Plan Reviews were conducted for
twelve, and Downtown Village District reviews were conducted for five applications. Five
applications were approved with conditions and/or modified; four were withdrawn.
Seventeen applications were referred to the Advisory Committee on Community Appearance
(ACCA) for comment and recommendation. ACCA reviews building and site plans to consider
how they will harmonize with, and enhance the appearance of, the areas in which they are
situated. When the property is located in the Downtown Village District, ACCA must provide
an advisory opinion in accordance with statutory requirements. Members review the proposal for
consistency with the Design and Landscape Requirements for that District. Members of the
Planning and Zoning Commission serve as liaisons to ACCA and alternate attendance at their
meetings.
Major project approvals included a nine (9) unit apartment building at 45 Wall Street; an Open
Space Conservation District subdivision at the rear of 318 Horsepond Road to permit 14 lots; and
an approval of 37 two-bedroom residential town homes, retail and offices at 168-178 Cottage
Road.
Planning and Zoning Commission initiated regulation amendments included an amendment
pertaining to Planned Residential Developments in the Transition District to permit eight (8)
units in a building and up to twelve (12) units per acre provided ten percent (10%) of the units
are sold or rented at below market rate; eliminated the regulation pertaining to expiration of
variances if a certificate of occupancy has not been obtained within two (2) years of approval;
opted out of CT Public Act 17-155 regarding Temporary Health Care Structures in single-family
residential zones as our regulations already address that issue; and also approved a regulation to
allow “Bed and Breakfast” by Special Exception Permit in the R-1 and R-2 Districts.
Additionally, the Planning & Zoning Commission conducted an 8-24 review of a proposal to
demolish Ryerson School and construct a new school; also a referral of a 1.3 million gallon
water storage tank to be located on Town property at the Bulky Waste Site.
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The following is a summary of types, numbers, and disposition of the applications submitted to
the Commission as compared with the previous fiscal year.

Type of Application
Subdivision
Resubdivision
Subdivision Modification / Lot Line
Revision
Subdivision Extension
Special Exception Permit
Special Exception Permit Modification
Special Exception Permit Extension
Earth Removal/Filling Permit
Site Plan Review
Site Plan Modification
Downtown Village District Major
Alteration
Coastal Site Plan Review
Regulation Amendment
Zoning Boundary Amendment
Municipal Referral
Siting Council Referral
Road Acceptance
Open Space Conservation District
DVD Minor Alteration

Total
FY 17-18
4
0
1

Approved
FY 17-18
4
0
1

Total
FY 16-17
2
1
0

Approved
FY 16-17
2
1
0

0
10
4
1
2
3
5
0

0
8
4
1
1
3
5
0

0
2
6
0
1
0
5
2

0
1
5
0
0
0
5
2

11
5
2
2
0
1
1
3

7
4
1
2
0
1
1
3

7
1
0
1
0
0
0
2

6
1
0
1
0
0
0
2
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ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS
Ned Moore, Chairman
The Zoning Board of Appeals meets regularly on the second Tuesday of each month
except when otherwise scheduled to avoid a holiday, or when there is not an application
to be heard. A public hearing is held on each application, which allows interested parties
to ask questions or speak in favor of, or in opposition to, any application.
The Board consists of five regular members and three alternate members, all of whom are
elected to four-year terms of office. Five regular members, or alternate members if
seated for a regular member, are seated for each application presented; four affirmative
votes are required for a variance to be granted.
The Zoning Board of Appeals’ primary functions are: to hear and decide appeals of the
Zoning Enforcement Officer’s decisions and to determine and vary the application of the
Zoning Regulations when strict adherence would cause “exceptional difficulty or unusual
hardship”, different from that generally affecting other properties in the same zoning
district.
The Board met five times in regular session during the 2017-2018 fiscal year.
A total of ten variance applications were received; two less than in the previous year.
The Board approved all ten applications, of which two applications also had Coastal Site
Plan Reviews attached. One was to rescind a condition of the original approval.
The Board eliminated the requirement of Sec. 13.6 of the Madison Zoning Regulations
pertaining to obtaining a certificate of occupancy within two (2) years.
The Zoning Board of Appeals considers carefully each application that comes before it so
as to ensure that all variances granted are in harmony with the intent and purpose of the
Zoning Regulations, will not be detrimental to the public health, safety and welfare, and
are not in conflict with the Madison Plan of Conservation and Development.
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INLAND WETLANDS AGENCY
Madison, Connecticut
During fiscal year 2016-2017 there were a total of twenty six applications. This number of
applications, on an annual basis, is typical for the number of applications averaged over the past
five years.
Most of the Regulated Activity Permits received and approved involved only minor activities
located in the 100 foot upland review area, such as construction of additions, sheds, swimming
pools, and tennis courts; rather than actually being located in the inland wetlands themselves.
These projects may be located 50 to 100 feet from the actual wetland boundary and would have
no impact upon the wetland nearby.
Robert Zdon
Chairman, Inland Wetlands Agency

Robert Kuchta
Inland Wetlands Officer
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Madison Historic District Commission
John Lind, Chairman
Overview of the year: The Madison Historic District Commission has completed its ninth
full year in existence. Several properties within the Historic District have come before the
Commission for review. The Madison Historic District Commission continued to support a
Study Commission approved by the Board of Selectmen which was considering creating an
additional historic district in Madison along the West Boston Post Road. The Commission
meets once a month; below is a synopsis of the meetings from July 2017 through June 2018.
The committee held 6 regular meetings and took action as noted below.
No action taken on matters involving:
Demolition of 113 Buffalo Bay
Demolition delay of 86 Ridgewood Avenue
Demolition delay 175 Copse Road
Demolition delay 19 Hamilton Drive
Demolition delay 49 Pent Road
Demolition delay 33 Hamilton Drive
Demolition delay 30 Toffee Lane
Approval of items:
Certificate of Appropriateness, Madison Country Club
Certificate of Appropriateness, 506 Boston Post Road
Demolition Delay not extended:
49 Old Route 79
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CONSERVATION COMMISSION
Heather Crawford, Chair
The Conservation Commission is a seven-member volunteer board that meets on the second and
fourth Mondays of each month, unless a holiday falls on that Monday. There were 28 meetings
between July 1, 2017 and June 30, 2018. In its role as advisor on natural resources to any town
board or commission, the Conservation Commission conducted three site walks, and reviewed
applications and made recommendations to the Planning and Zoning Commission, Zoning Board
of Appeals, and Inland Wetlands Agency. In addition to reviews of formal applications, the
Commission was also involved in many activities related to identifying and protecting Madison’s
natural resources.
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BEACH AND RECREATION COMMISSION
Paul Maxwell, Chairman
The Beach and Recreation Commission conducts its monthly meetings on the first Friday of each
month at 7:30AM in the Town Hall. The Commission is comprised of a five member volunteer
panel that works with the Director of Recreation and recommends policy changes to the Board of
Selectmen. The Commission and Department Staff are responsible for providing recreational
opportunities to the citizens of Madison from infants to senior citizens. Residents are apprised of
these programs through the Town of Madison’s website: www.madisonct.org .
The department conducted over 500 programs throughout the year and serviced over 7000
participants. Over the course of the summer months the beach areas serviced over 40,000 people.
Renovations of Strong Field continue and the two field houses are nearing completion.
The Rockland Preserve Sub-Committee works under the guidance of the Recreation Director in
conjunction with the Beach & Recreation Commission and Department staff to oversee the use of
this 650 Acres Natural Preserve Area consisting of over 12 miles of woodland trails, 10 miles of
single-track bike trails which have been listed in the top ten for most popular across America, a
youth campsite, and interpretative sites throughout the preserve. Currently under way is
construction of a bike skills area and a pump track. The Preserve Committee meets the third
Wednesday of each month at 8:00pm in the North Madison Firehouse.
The Bauer Park Committee continues to work with the Recreation Department Staff and
Commission and is further refining the long range plan for the Park. The Bauer Park SubCommittee works under the guidance of the Recreation Director in conjunction with the Beach &
Recreation Commission and Department staff. The Park Committee meets the fourth
Wednesday of each month at 7:30pm in the Bauer Park Classroom. The Harvest Festival is held
each year in October for all residents to come to the Park for old-time games, food and music.
The Committee proposed and ran over 60 educational programs throughout the year and serviced
over 500 participants.
The Salt Meadow Park Advisory Committee also began its work under the guidance of the
Recreation Director in conjunction with the Beach & Recreation Commission and Department
staff to develop and recommend an overall management plan and to help the department oversee
the use of this 42.5 acres of parkland including playing fields, Amphitheater, Picnic Area and
natural areas adjacent to the Hammonasset River.
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MADISON TOWN ENERGY & EFFICIENCY COMMITTEE
Woodie Weiss, Chair
The Town of Madison recognizes that energy, its consumption and expense, contributes a
significant amount to the cost of operations in the town. In addition, town government has the
responsibility to provide leadership to its citizens in the area of conservation and efficient use of
clean/renewable energy. The Committee is charged with fostering energy efficient and
environmentally friendly practices in Madison.
During the 2017 – 2018 fiscal year, the committee held nine (9) regular meetings.
The committee procured ZREC contracts with Eversource and supervised installation of
photovoltaic systems on the following buildings:
Public Works Garage
33 kW
Polson Middle School
122 kW
Town Gym
67 kW
Salt Meadow Park
10 kW
Police Station
20 kW
Town Office Building
40 kW
Streetlight upgrades on Wall Street were completed. LED replacement of T8 fluorescent bulbs in
schools and municipal buildings continued.
The Town was awarded a Bronze level SustainableCT award due to efforts of the committee as
well.
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION
Ryan Duques, Chairman

2017-2018 Activities:
 The Commission sponsored a seaplane take-off and landing event that occurred on
Thursday, September 28th. This event was held to announce a new partnership that will
enable and promote seaplane service from Madison’s beaches to New York City and
other destinations including charters to Long Island, Block Island, the Cape and more.


The Commission provided a recommendation to the Board of Selectmen regarding an
RFP for the sale and rehabilitation of the Academy School Building.



The Commission approved sending a Commercial Property Tax Deferral Policy for new
or expanding businesses in Town to the Board of Selectmen for Town approval.
Eligibility for tax incentive will be for at least one of the uses provided for in the CGS
Section 12-65b and, in addition, the proposals must either result in the contribution of a
least an additional $175,000 in assessed real estate value to the Grand List or result in the
creation of 10 or more full-time equivalent positions working in the Town of Madison.

 Madison Center Project Oversite: The Economic Development Commission continues to
oversee the Madison Center Project’s progress and has lent its support to several grant
applications, which have resulted in additional awards, which will be used to supplement
the project with transportation oriented design (TOD) elements, by enhancing the Tuxis
Walkway and connecting sidewalks to the train station.
 Business Interaction: An ongoing effort is made by the Economic Development
Commission to keep in touch with Madison’s business base and offer support as often as
possible.
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MADISON SENIOR SERVICES COMMISSION
Wendy Oberg, Senior Services Commission Co-Chair
QUALITY OF LIFE RESULT:
All Madison residents age 65 and over live healthy and productive lives in supportive settings of
their own choosing.
The role of the Commission is to advise all town Boards, Commissions and Committees
regarding current and future needs of Madison’s older adults. In collaboration with public and
private partners, the Commission reviews and evaluates local, state, and national trends to ensure
maximum coordination and responsiveness to the needs of Madison’s older adult population.
Our guiding principle for this work is “Excellence in Aging.”
DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS FOR THE AGING
During the 17/18 FY, the Commission continued to monitor the demographic trends. The CERC
Town Profile states that 21 % (3,809) of town residents are over the age of 65. The number of
seniors in town will continue to rise. See below for 5 year increments.
Year 2020: 24% (4,127)
Year 2025: 26% (4,311)
Year 2030: 28% (4,477)
** Statistics taken from U.S. Census and Connecticut Data Collaborative
The Commission will continue to monitor the shift in demographics and the implications for
Madison seniors.
Summary of Meetings schedule FY 17/18:
The Senior Commission met regularly on the 2nd Thursday of the month at 5:30pm at the Senior
Center.
FY 17/18 Projects or Activities:
Lunch Program and Meals on Wheels
Lunch Program Statistics: Number of meals in dining room FY 15/16 6,048 compared to FY
17/18 10,221
Meals on Wheels Statistics: Number of meals on wheels served FY 15/16 6,485 compared to FY
17/18 9,414
Health and Wellness
A. New Health Education classes offered in FY 17/18 through partnerships with VNA
Community Health Care and Rehab Concepts
a. Cut Down on Sugars
b. Vertigo
c. Meditation
d. Beat Parkinson’s
e. Balance and Falls
f. Acupuncture
g. Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis
h. Grief Support
22

i.
j.
k.
l.
m.
n.
o.
p.
q.
r.

Battling Loneliness
Stress Busters
Beat the Blues
Respiratory Wellness
Pelvic Health
Living with Arthritis
Nutrition and Healthy Habits
Benefits of Water
Osteoporosis
Diabetes

B. Provided monthly Audiologist visits through Audiology Concierge.
C. The Senior Center offers a rich mix of physical activities to meet diverse interests and
wellness levels. This mix continues to change in response to membership input. New
offerings to the Exercise portfolio included Meditation, Seated Tai Chi, Seated Yoga,
Active Strength and Fitness, 18 Movements, Acupuncture, and Herbalism.
Continuing Education
A. The Schiller Shoreline Institute for Lifelong Learning (SSILL) partners with Madison
Senior Services to provide a wide range of lectures by local academics and enthusiastic
volunteers. (See Addendum at end of report)
Social Service Programs
A. Services Offered by the Town Municipal Agent for the Elderly/Asst Director of Senior
Services
a. Rent Rebate
b. Farmers Market Coupons
c. Cell Phone Assistance
d. Medicare Counseling
e. Medicaid
f. Social Security
g. Senior Tax Relief
h. Senior Tax Freeze
i. SNAP
j. Energy Assistance
k. Holiday Food Baskets
l. Dining Program Assistance
m. Affordable Housing Guidance
Membership
Beginning on January 1st, 2018, Senior Services instituted a membership fee for all users of the
Senior Center. Madison Residents pay $15 annually and non-residents pay $20 annually.
Madison residents may apply for a subsidized membership if they meet certain financial
qualifications.
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Goals for FY 18/19:
A. Reach out to seniors who have not taken advantage of our services.
B. Continue to prepare for the ongoing increase of senior population in Madison.
C. Continue to offer new and cutting edge senior programming.
D. Increase Membership
Senior Services Commission Members:
Wendy Oberg, Co-Chair
Gerard Kerins, Co-Chair
Lori Murphy, Secretary
Sherry Puricelli
Dale Kach
James Ball
John Dean
Ruth Diona
Addendum
SCHILLER SHORELINE INSTITUTE FOR LIFELONG LEARNING (SSILL)
SEMESTER YEAR FALL 2017- SPRING 2018
ANNUAL REPORT
The Schiller Shoreline Institute for Lifelong Learning (SSILL) is proud to begin their eleventh
year. SSILL presented its first catalog in the Spring of 2008 offering 10 programs. SSILL has
come a long way since Paula Schiller formed a committee with the dream of having educational,
informative programs for 50+ adults in our shoreline communities. We are grateful to the
Guilford Foundation and the Madison Foundation for making this dream come true.
This past semester, Fall 2017 and Spring 2018, SSILL is proud to announce that 64 programs
were offered (5 being series with 14 extra presentations not included in this count), 14
educational trips, and a total of 27 movies making the grand total of 105 offerings for the two
semesters. Our program committee and SSILL volunteers have done an outstanding job and have
been very busy making sure our members have quality programs.
SSILL has become a partner with the educational programming at the Guilford Community
Center. We owe a big thank you to Rick Maynard, Terry Buckley, Patti Haggerty, Conner
Negri, Ellen Clow, Todd Rake, Nancy Matyasovsky and the entire staff at the Community
Center for the work they do. Thanks also to our Madison partner, Austin Hall, and his staff for
scheduling programs and setting up equipment at the Madison Senior Center. Additionally, we
offer our thanks to the Guilford Free Library for co-hosting programs with us on so many
occasions. And finally, a big thank you to St. George’s Church for allowing us to use their
parking lot.
SSILL charges a membership fee of $35.00 each Fall which allows members to register for both
the Fall and Spring Semesters. Most programs are $1.00 for a single course and $2.00 dollars for
a series. Trips are priced just to cover costs. This Fall we begin the year with approximately
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$11,000 in our Budget to start the coming semester. Typically, expenses include the purchase
and maintenance of our electronic equipment, Web design and maintenance fees, bus drivers,
clerical work for registration of members and the collection and recording of fees, catalog
printing, postage, envelopes, rental of movies, etc. Our funds are kept and managed by the
Finance Department of the Town of Guilford.
SSILL committee members are all volunteers. There are six committees: Membership,
Programs, Catalog, Technology, Advertising and Budget. We are always looking for new
members to come on board and help out on one of our committees. Our volunteer committee
members are the reason why we offer such stimulating programs. We encourage anyone who
would like to become a part of a committee to seek out a Board/Committee member wearing red
name tags at presentations. Today, there are Volunteer sign-up sheets available as you enter the
auditorium.
SSILL is grateful to all of our speakers who volunteer their time as a public service. We are
always amazed at the caliber of our presenters. We continue to receive suggestions and ideas
from members and requests from people who have hear about SSILL and are anxious to present
a program for us.
Lastly and most importantly, we want to acknowledge all our approximately 400 members who
come from many towns along the shoreline to attend SSILL programs. It is the members that
have made SSILL so successful. We sincerely appreciate and thank all of them.
We look forward to another exciting Fall semester.
Connie Fusco, President
Doris DeWees, Vice President
Susan Smith, Program Chair
Schiller Shoreline Institute for Lifelong Learning (SSILL)
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MADISON SHELLFISH COMMISSION
Stephen Nikituk, Chairman

Manage shellfishing activities in compliance with state and federal law.
Meetings are held once a month on the third Thursday at 7:30 pm
Activities as follows:
Held two weekend Clam Digs at the Surf Club
We are updating the Madison Shellfish Commission Management Plan last done
in 1991.
The Commission has provided the Bureau of Aquiculture with all water samples
required.

We have a cash balance of $22,189.
We have sold approx. 110 shellfish licenses this year.
We have nine active commercial leases providing $6853 in annual income.
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YOUTH & FAMILY SERVICES BOARD
Tony Doina, Chairman
The mission of Madison Youth & Family Services (MY&FS) is to foster the healthy
development of the children and families of Madison through progressive programs that
offer prevention, community coordination, treatment and social services. The MY&FS
Board also oversaw the agency’s continued efforts toward reaching our mission through
the following programs:
Positive Youth Development Programs
These are programs facilitated by MYFS that engage youth to enhance their
social/emotional abilities to support their peers and community. Madison Youth and
Family Services, in collaboration with Madison Public Schools provide many Positive
Youth Development (PYD) programs for the youth of Madison. These also include
Violence Prevention and Summer Programs highlighted below.
Peer Advocates: 50 high school aged youth served over 1132 of their peers and other
residents through drug education, orientation/friendship, and other services. Through 4
training cycles an additional 55 Peer Advocates were trained this year.
Peer Helpers: 44 middle school aged youth helped over 487 of their peers through
community volunteer programs, orientation /friendship programs and other services.
These include “We Rise by Lifting Others”, “Pizza People”, “Kindness Rocks”, and “Girl
Empowerment”. Through two training cycles an additional 32 Peer Helpers were trained.
“Perspectives”: Perspectives is a cross-age, student-to-student program developed by an
interracial, interfaith group of high school teens to address the ways in which hateful
language is used to hurt people. 49 DHHS prepared and presented the “Perspectives”
program to approximately 220 upper middle schoolers.
Mentoring Matters: 8 middle school students were matched with 10 high school students
and participated in the weekly supervised program that is designed to promote
confidence, increase self-esteem and develop social skills.
Other Positive Youth Development Programs: Nine different programs covering various
issues were conducted at Daniel Hand High School, Walter C. Polson and Robert H.
Brown Middle Schools. These include Allies, Swag, Girls Group, Boys Council, Girls
United, LEAD and ROAR. A total of 2,106 students were served.
GASP: 52 high school students participated in the Gender and Sexualities Program and
held or participated in several activities throughout the year. These include “True
Colors”, “Day of Silence”, “Breaking the Silence” and “Diversity Paint Video”.
Safe Rides: High school students were given safe rides home through this youth-to-youth
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volunteer program. 80 youth and 9 adult supervisors staffed the Safe Ride program.
Prevention Programs Delivered to Youth via MPS
13 classes were taught at the middle and high school level by our positive youth
development and clinical team in collaboration with the MPS health curriculum. These
include 5th grade “Making Connections” and “Stress Management”, 6th grade “Who’s
Got The Power”, 8th grade “Choices”, 9th grade “Sexual Assault”, “Sexual and Gender
Identity” and “Stress and Suicide Prevention”, 10th grade “Violence Prevention”, 11th
grade “Violence Prevention”, “Campus Safety”, 11th grade “Emotional Safety/Girls Talk
and Guys Talk” and 12th grade “Sexual Violence and College”. 2,162 students were
served by these programs.
Summer Programs
Community Service: a program that middle school and high school students volunteer
their time for different community service projects throughout the summer. These
include Senior Olympics at the Strong House, collecting food for the Food Pantry,
participating in activities with the seniors at the Senior Center and The Big Event where
the youth do various jobs at senior citizens houses throughout Madison on one given day.
69 students participated on 36 days in the summer.
SYEP (Summer Youth Employment): 6 students worked at 5 different worksites this
summer, which included Scranton Library, Madison Senior Center, RJ Julia’s, Eclectic
Café and What’s Cookin, through a grant from Neighbor 2 Neighbor. Madison Youth &
Family Services provided training and support throughout the summer.
Community Coordination Services
MADE in Madison
Projects and activities:
Created new brochures on marijuana, vaping, assets, social media, and the
relationship between alcohol, domestic violence and sexual assault.
Created tips for parents to talk to their kids about Netflix television show 13 Reasons
Why and prom safety.
Created weekly posts highlighting the 40 developmental assets on Facebook.
Participated in Trunk or Treat to disseminate information.
Partnered with Madison Public Schools to conduct the 2017 School Survey.
Attended press conference for Connecticut Smart Approaches to marijuana.
Presented at CAPP (CT Association of Prevention Processionals) on the coalition
between alcohol and drugs and domestic violence and sexual violence.
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Staffed a table and hidden in plain sight backpack display at DHHS back to school
night.
Created topic quizzes on MADE website on assists, stalking, opioids, domestic
violence and what Madison youth say.
Participated on Youth to Youth Conference in Rhode Island. In total 6 Madison
students and 2 staff members were in attendance.
Two staff attended the National Alcohol Policy Conference.
Programs and Services:
Partnered with DHHS Students and the Clinical team to host Appy hour- a
monthly drop in hour for parents to learn about technology from young people.
Ran ROAR for the 2nd year, in total there were 9 students participating in the
group.
Partnered with the DHHS on 5 assemblies this year, one each for freshmen and
sophomores on healthy decision making and substance use, one for Juniors pre
prom, and two for Seniors one on safe driving, one on sexual assault
Partnered with the school’s Whole Child Wellness Committee on Anxiety – The
monster among us.
Partner with the happiness club and hosted a night with Adam Greenburg 113
were in attendance.
Participated in and planned the LEAD Conference in total 2 students from
Madison helped plan, 4 adults were active on planning and implementing, and 8
students were in attendance as participants.
We are 06443 Building a compassionate community was held for parents on the
40 developmental assets- 2 presentations with 45 in attendance.
Hosted Hidden in Plain in sight and screening of Chasing the Dragon in
December, 45 parents and community members were in attendance.
MADE started a radio show called The Parent Project. This weekly show on
iCRV radio talks about prevention and raising resilient youth.
MADE worked with Clinton and Haddam-Killingworth to facilitate a teen run
workshop for adults working with youth in March in total, 40 adults from across
the state were in attendance.
Other Coordination Efforts: MYFS collaborates with other Town Departments including
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Senior Services, Beach & Rec, MPS and MPD. Youth & Family Services also continued
work to support the Artsbarn (Friends of Madison Youth), Shoreline Girls United,
Shoreline Transconnect and Shoreline Domestic Violence Task Force.

Clinical Services
Madison Youth & Family Services is committed to promoting the social and emotional
well-being of its children, youth, and their families. We work with children, parents and
families who are facing issues such as transition, anxiety, depression, substance abuse,
trauma and/or grief and loss. We work from a strength-based perspective.
A total of 115 separate clients received on-going individual and/or family therapy through
the Outpatient Clinic (OC), School Based Counseling (SBC) or SCOPE. An additional
451 individual contacts were made of an informational or short-term counseling nature.
Programs/Services:
Outpatient Clinic - Our Clinical Services can include individual counseling for children
age 0-21, family therapy, crisis intervention, parent counseling, psycho-educational
support groups and case management. We accept most major insurances and can offer a
sliding fee scale. Some clinical services are free.
SCOPE Program- A grant funded collaborative effort between Madison Public School
and MYFS, providing support to families of school aged children when challenges occur.
Once referred, parents and their children will receive free & confidential, short-term
intervention (8-12 sessions). This may include a combination of assessment, parent
education, parent support counseling, individual and/or family therapy, and collaboration
with the school in order for families to achieve their desired outcomes.
Other Parenting Services: Madison Youth & Family Services continued to run education
and support groups for parents. These include “Middle Ground” a parent support tweens
group, a Mother/Daughter night out and “Hooked on Books” a mother and daughter book
club.
School Based Counseling- Children struggling with behavioral, attentional, and/or
emotional challenges often need additional support in school to be available for learning
and maximize their academic success. Our School-Based Clinicians are located at Brown
Middle School, Polson Middle School, and Daniel Hand High School. They provide
counseling and support during your child’s school day. School- Based Clinicians can
help children with issues such as ADD/ADHD, Anxiety, Depression, and navigating their
social world. School based counseling is free and confidential.
School Based Counseling Groups: Five different groups on varied topics were conducted
at Daniel Hand High School, Walter C. Polson and Robert H. Brown Middle Schools.
These include Drug & Alcohol counseling and Social Skills lunch groups for each middle
school grade (5th-8th).
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Social Services
Programs/Services:
Madison Youth & Family Services coordinates state and local efforts to help those in
need. Social Services provided 77 households with energy assistance, 296 received
holiday food baskets. 184 children received winter clothing through the “Warm the
Children” program, camp scholarships, Back to School Backpacks, Toys for Christmas
and Christmas trees.
66 Households received financial assistance and 55 were assisted with State Program
applications.
Adult Mental Health Assistance: Eight individuals with low income and/or no insurance
coverage were provided 25 therapy sessions.
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MADISON WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
Tom Hansen, Chairman
The Water Pollution Control Authority (WPCA) consists of a five-member volunteer board
that meets quarterly throughout the year to establish policies for, and monitor the progress of,
the Town’s Water Pollution Control Plan. The WPCA performs this mission with assistance of
Town staff from the Health Department. The Water Pollution Control Plan addresses
wastewater disposal systems
 Municipal facilities – none existing or planned
 Individual septic systems - predominant
 Community systems – a system servicing two or more residences
The Plan also designates decentralized wastewater management districts (WWMDs)
 Guidelines drafted but not adopted
The Plan describes programs to avoid “community pollution problems”:
 Individual septic system design guidelines
 Pump out schedules
 Winterization
 Community system
operational guidelines The Plan
is administered by the Health
Director Meeting Summary
2018: 3/28, 6/27, 9/26, 12/19
2018 Plan Updates:
 September 2018
 DEEP regulates systems > 7,500 gpd (change from 5,000)
 Changes to the “Downtown Water Restriction District”
 References to Madison Plan of Conservation and Development
 References to draft WWMD guidelines
 Other clarifications and wording changes
Looking Ahead
 DEEP Clean Water Funds for planning (last updated 1981)
 Establishing wastewater management districts
 Areas of environmental concern
 Nitrogen in groundwater
 Impact on salt marshes and Long Island Sound
 Use of Passive Nitrogen Reduction Systems (NRS)
 Sea level rise
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TOWN PENSION FUND
Alfred Goldberg, Chairman

The market value of the Town Pension Fund stood at $18,865,295 as of June 30, 2018. The net
return, after all expenses, was 7.45% for the year. Approximately 62% of the fund is currently
invested in equities and 35% in bonds and 3% in cash. All investments are managed through
GYL Financial Synergies, LLC.

POLICE PENSION FUND
Alfred Goldberg, Chairman

The market value of the Police Pension Fund stood at $13,792,852 as of June 30, 2018. Net
return, after all expenses, was 7.46% for the year. Approximately 62% of the fund is currently
invested in equities and 35% in bonds and 3.0% in cash. All investments are managed through
GYL Financial Synergies, LLC.

FIREMEN’S BENEFIT FUND
Alfred Goldberg, Chairman
The market value of the Firemen’s Benefit Plan Fund stood at $1,501,886 as of June 30,
2018. The net return, after all expenses, was 4.96% for the year. Approximately 55% of the
fund is currently invested in equities and 45% in bonds and 0.0% in cash. All investments are
managed through GYL Financial Synergies, LLC.
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Madison Board of Education
Jean Fitzgerald, Chairperson
Alison Keating, Vice Chairperson
Jessica Bowler, Secretary
Seth Klaskin
Galen Cawley
John Dean
Matt Keller
Happy Marino
Katie Stein

Madison Public Schools
Central Office Administrative Team
Thomas R. Scarice, Superintendent
Gail Dahling-Hench, Assistant Superintendent
Elizabeth Battaglia, Director of Special Education and
Student Services
Stacy Nobitz, Director of Finance
Heather Dobson, Director of Human Resources
Arthur Sickle, Director of Administrative Services
William McMinn, Director of Facilities

Madison Public Schools
2017-2018
Board of Education Annual Report
Jean Fitzgerald, Chairperson
Thomas R. Scarice, Superintendent of Schools
Vision for 21st Century Education
The Madison Public Schools: “Every child, every day, leading the way”
The Madison Public Schools are driven by a mission to prepare all learners to make a unique,
positive contribution in a complex, global society. We are committed to fostering the diverse
talents and abilities of each and every child in an emotionally and physically safe environment.
We envision learning as joyful and learners as passionate. We support our educators as
innovators in a dynamic pursuit of continuous improvement.
We are committed to the work that will lead to the development of all learners’ capacities to:
•

put ideas into action by thinking critically and creatively to identify and solve authentic,
complex problems;

•

communicate and collaborate purposefully and effectively using a variety of media;

•

approach learning with effort and persistence while responding to success and failure
with resiliency, reflection, and adaptability in an ever-changing world;

•

make ethical and responsible decisions.

Demographic Profile of the Madison Public Schools
The Madison Public Schools’ population as a percentage of the town population is approximately
21%. The public school enrollment is 90.7% of all eligible students; the balance of school-age
children attend one of the three non-public schools in Madison or non-public schools in other
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towns. The seven public schools in Madison are organized by grade levels as follows: Pre-K
program (Town Campus Learning Center), grades K – 4 (3 elementary schools), grades 5-6
(lower middle school), grades 7-8 (upper middle school), and grades 9-12 (high school). The
2017-2018 October 1 enrollment was 2,804 students in grades K-12. There were 39 students in
the Pre-School Program which includes special needs students and typical peers. The number of
resident students in Madison who attend public schools of choice is approximately 19 and,
generally 25 students are placed out-of-district for special education programs. Approximately
8.3% of Madison’s students represent various minority / ethnic groups. Data from the Strategic
Schools Profile indicates that approximately 94% of enrolled kindergartners attended preschool.
A consistently low number of non-English home language students attend Madison Public
Schools. Approximately 11% of the 11th and 12th grade students at Daniel Hand High School
work 16 or more hours per week.
For the 2017-2018 school year, enrollment at Daniel Hand High School was 1,134 students; Dr.
Robert H. Brown Middle School (Grades 5-6) and Walter C. Polson Middle School (Grades 7-8)
combined enrollment was 830; Island Avenue Elementary, Jeffrey Elementary and Ryerson
Elementary schools had a combined enrollment of 824 students in the 2017-2018 school year.
Projections indicate that overall enrollment will continue to decrease over the next few years.
Staffing profiles have been and will continue to be adjusted accordingly.
Highlights of 2017-2018
Board of Education Activities and Actions:


Emily Baker and Ryan Tomicic, Daniel Hand High School students, were the Student
Representatives to the Board of Education for the 2017-2018 school year.

The following Achievements of Distinction were recognized by the Board of Education
during the 2017-2018 School Year:
 Ms. Martha Curran was named 2018 Madison Public Schools Teacher of the Year.
 Ms. Lynn Hagan was named 2018 Madison Public Schools Paraprofessional of the Year.
 The following students received the 2018 Student of the Year Award from the Madison
Rotary Club:
Lillian Vedrani, Island Avenue School
Liza Jobson, J. Milton Jeffrey Elementary School
Grace Ackerman, Kathleen H. Ryerson Elementary School
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Peter Woytowich, Dr. Robert H. Brown Middle School
Natasha McCarthy, Walter C. Polson Middle School
Roisin Beirne, Daniel Hand High School
 Ashlinn Virgulto and Cale Gabrynowicz, members of the Daniel Hand High School
Senior Class, were awarded the Connecticut Association of Public School
Superintendents’ (CAPSS) Superintendent / Student Recognition Award for leadership
service to the school, academic prowess relative to ability, and service to others in the
community.
 The following students were the Connecticut Association of Boards of Education
(CABE) Student Leadership Award winners:
 Ms. Taitum Maxwell and Mr. Kevin Sandor – Walter C. Polson Middle School
students
 Ms. Emily Baker & Mr. Michael Campanelli – Daniel Hand High School students
 The following coaches were named Coach of the Year:
 Dave Mastroianni – Football
 Marc Figlar – Boys’ Volleyball
 Kelly Smith – Gymnastics
 Mike Niekrash – Softball
 SCC Scholar Athlete awards were presented as follows:
 Fall: Brian Casagrande and Taylor Leckey
 Winter: Halle Freund and Mark Hartmann
 Spring: Riley Kokoruda and James DeGrasse
 Player of the Year awards were presented to:
 Brian Casagrande – Football
 Erin Naclerio – Gymnastics
 Taylor Scully - Lacrosse
 The following teams were named SCC Champions:
 Field Hockey (and State Champions)
 Boys’ Soccer (and State Champions)
 Girls’ Soccer
 Football (and Class L State Title)
 The Daniel Hand High School Show Choir (VIBE) was the grand champion and awarded
a gold medal at both the Mill City Show Choir Festival and the Tantasqua Show Choir
Spectacular. VIBE also participated in the Central Massachusetts Show Choir Festival
and the Nutmeg Show Choir Festival and took home the gold medal as well as 2nd place
at both events. Best Male Soloist was awarded to senior Aidan Gaffney.
 Daniel Hand High School art students participated in the Future Choices Annual Juried
High School Competition and Exhibition, sponsored by the Shoreline Arts Alliance.
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Student
Alyssa Pardo
Clare Nelson
Clare Nelson
Delaney Skelly
Elizabeth Schroeder
Emma Valdez
Eric Dillner
Gabrielle Harmon
Haley Robertson
Jason Noel
Nick Serio
Sasha Dolynuk

Medium / Category
Paint
Collagraph Print
Paint
Mixed Media
Charcoal
Clay
Photography
Clay
Block Print
Mixed Media
Photography
Drawing

Award
Honorable Mention Painting
2nd Place Prints
Honorable Mention Painting
2nd Place Mixed Media
2nd Place Pastel
Honorable Mention Ceramics
Honorable Mention Photography
Honorable Mention Ceramics
3rd Place Prints
Honorable Mention Media
Honorable Mention Photography
3rd Place Drawing

 Madison Public Schools Retirees June 30, 2018:
Ricki Briggs, Computer Teacher, Brown Middle School
Sara Caraszi, Executive Secretary, Central Office
Steven Isleib, Math Teacher, Daniel Hand High School
Joyce Merola, Food Services, Polson Middle School
Donna Daricek, Executive Secretary, Facilities
Student Achievement
Students in the Madison Public Schools continue to perform at high levels. While SAT scores
remain highly competitive with surrounding towns and in the state, Madison holds itself
accountable for progressing in realization of the vision. This requires the examination of multiple
indicators. Continued focus and productive work is needed at all grade levels to ensure that
students not only know the fundamental academic skills of reading, writing, mathematics, and
science, but also the application of skills to address complex problems, issues and tasks. Preparing
students for life and success in the 21st Century is the mission of the Madison Public Schools.
In Madison, we place an emphasis on building our students’ 21st Century Skills and
incorporating the state adopted Common Core through the lens of the district vision. We make
thoughtful decisions about the standards and where they will be included using research,
professional expertise, and our knowledge of our students. The importance of achieving the
district vision compels us to engage in a continuous cycle of curriculum revision and review
which includes alignment of meaningful assessments with indicators of student growth that
expand student capacities. These fifteen indicators are identified in the following bands: Critical
Thinking; Creative Thinking; Collaboration and Communication; Self-Discipline and Global
Thinking.

The

curriculum

button

located

on

the

district

website

(https://www.madison.k12.ct.us/district/curriculum-instruction) is evidence of the depth and
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breadth of student experience designed with engaging, complex units designed to promote the
deep understanding of a discipline and transfer of complex skills.
The “Madison Capacities Matrix” describes the outcomes associated with the vision to prepare all
learners to make a unique, positive contribution in a complex, global society.

This paints a

multifaceted picture for describing the high achievement of our students. It challenges us to
create assessments that ask students to apply knowledge, skills and capacities to address novel
situations in an authentic manner. The development of capacities and content is at the core of our
teacher evaluation system, our curriculum work, and our district assessments structure.
The 2017-2018 Education Budget
The 2017-2018 education budget reflected the continuation of a period of fiscal discipline for the
Madison Public Schools. The Madison Public Schools received a budget appropriation of
$46,204,199 to fund all costs related to educating the children of Madison. These costs included
expenses related to personnel, utilities such as fuel oil and electricity, classroom supplies and
services, and building maintenance.
2017-2018 Approved Operational Budget
General Education and Instructional Support
$31,742,028
Special Education and Student Services
$9,356,927
School Facilities: Custodial Services
$5,000,243
School Facilities: Planned and Cycled Maintenance
$50,000
Total
$46,204,199
Revenue
The following table shows actual revenues received in 2017-2018 by the Town of Madison from
the State of Connecticut for educational functions. The Education Cost Sharing (ECS) Grant is
based on state formulas, and the Transportation grant is based on expenditures. The latter is
considered a "block grant," that is, the funds do not have to be applied directly to education but
are deposited into the Town's General Fund to offset the mill rate. The Excess Cost-Student Based
Grant is administered pursuant to CGS §10-76d, §10-76g and §10-253 of the 2006 Supplement to
the General Statutes. Costs in excess of four and one-half times a town’s average cost per pupil
for the prior year are paid for students placed in an out of district special education program by a
school district pursuant to CGS §10-76g(b). The State of Connecticut capped the Excess Cost
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Grant and reduced the funding due Madison by 27.54% which equates to a $289,490 reduction in
funding.
2017-2018 State Education Revenue
Education Cost Sharing Grant

$

369,437

*Transportation

$

0

Excess Cost

$

761,697

$

1,131,134

Total

In Summary
The 2017-2018 school year demonstrated the continued community-wide commitment to provide
the children of Madison with the best education possible. Students come to school prepared to
learn, educators are talented, focused and dedicated, parents are supportive and involved, and the
community values and supports quality public education.
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WHERE YOUR MONEY GOES

Other Gov't Agencies
17.39%

Public Safety Inc. Police
5.47%

Public Works
3.60%
Debt Service
4.77%

Board of Education
68.77%
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WHERE YOUR MONEY COMES FROM
Misc.
13.42%
Other State
1.15%
State Grant for Ed
1.04%

Taxes
84.39%
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INTRODUCTORY SECTION
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TOWN OF MADISON
CONNECTICUT

MADISON PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Stacy S. Nobitz, CPA
Director of Finance

December 31, 2018
To the Members of the Board of Selectmen, the Board of Finance and the Citizens of the Town of
Madison:
Connecticut State Statutes require that all municipal entities publish within six months of the close of
each fiscal year a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity

with

accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and audited in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by a firm of licensed certified
public accountants. Pursuant to that requirement, we hereby issue the comprehensive annual financial
report of the Town of Madison for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.
This report consists of management's representations concerning the finances of the Town of Madison.
Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the
information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations,
management of the Town of Madison has established a comprehensive internal control framework that
is designed both to protect the government's assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient
reliable information for the preparation of the Town of Madison's financial statements in conformity
with GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh the benefits, the Town of
Madison's comprehensive frame
work of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that
the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. As management, we assert that, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.
The Town of Madison's financial statements have been audited by Mahoney Sabol & Company LLP, a
firm of licensed certified public accountants. The goal of the independent audit was

to

provide

reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the Town of Madison for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018 are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the
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accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.

The independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for
rendering an unmodified opinion that the Town of Madison's financial statements for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor's report is
presented as the first component of the financial section of this report. The independent audit of the
financial statements of the Town of Madison was part of a broader, federal and state mandated "Single
Audits" designed to meet the special needs of federal and state grantor agencies. The standards
governing the Federal and State Single Audit engagements require the independent auditor to report
not only on the fair presentation of the financial statements, but also on the government's

internal

controls and compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and legal
requirements involving the administration of federal and state awards. These reports are available in the
Town's separately issued Single Audit Reports.
The Town prepares the Basic Financial Statements and Management's Discussion and Analysis-for State
of Local Governments in accordance with GASB No. 34. GAAP require that management provide a
narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the form
of Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement
and to be read in conjunction with the MD&A. The Town of Madison's MD&A can be found immediately
following the report of the independent auditors.

Profile of the Town of Madison
The Town was first settled in 1641 as part of Guilford. It was organized as a separate community in 1707
and incorporated in 1826. The Town was the one hundred twenty-eighth town established in
Connecticut. The Town encompasses approximately 36.3 square miles within New Haven County,
approximately 15 miles east of New Haven and 35 miles south of Hartford. Interstate 95 and state
highways 80 and 1 (Boston Post Road) intersect the Town for east and west transportation access, while
state highway 79 provides north-south access. Madison is bounded on the east by Clinton and
Killingworth; on the north by Durham; on the south by Long Island Sound; and on the west by Guilford.
The Town is primarily a suburban, residential community with single-family homes.
Located within Town are two state parks: the Cockaponset State Forest in the northern portion of Town,
and the Hammonasset State Park and Beach located on the southeastern edge of Madison. The
Hammonasset Park consists of 930 acres, 558 campsites, concessions, bathhouses, a pavilion, picnic
areas, and a nature center. Parking for 7,000 vehicles is available for bathers and campers alike, with
overall park capacity rated to serve 16,000 people. The Park also provides a fishing jetty for surf and
boat fishing.
The Town utilizes an adopted Plan of Development to maintain its rural and seashore character. Under
the Town Charter, the Planning and Zoning Commission is responsible for approval of all projects.
Current zoning regulations were adopted on April 10, 1953, with various revisions adopted since that
time. The Town is completely zoned with approximately 46% of the land zoned residential, with one to
two acre lots. The balance of the Town is zoned commercial or light industrial. The areas zoned for one
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acre can include apartment or condominium units. As part of the Town Plan of Development, open
space and preservation of the seashore and rural character of the Town are major goals. To that end,
the Town has provided for 4 parks, including the Surf Club Beach area, a 45-acre beach/recreation
facility owned by the Town that provides beaches, picnic area, basketball and volleyball courts, as well
as baseball, softball, football and soccer fields, and Salt Meadow Park, a 42-acre passive and active
recreation facility, including three multi-purpose playing fields, conversation areas, shared path and trail
system and an area for a future canoe/kayak launch. Rockland Preserve is a 650 acre park, which
includes the New England Scenic Trail, other nature trails, as well as 10 miles of single track bicycle trails.
Bauer Park consists of 64 acres, has 180 community gardens, fields, a pavilion and trails. In addition, the
Town has two other small public beaches, East Wharf and West Wharf. The Town also owns property
on Greenhill that includes a softball field that was previously leased.
The Town of Madison operates under the provisions of its Charter, most recently revised on November
7, 2006, and the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut. The legislative body is the Town Meeting.
The Executive body consists of a Board of Selectmen, a fi·ve member board, with the First Selectman
acting as the chief executive officer. Election to the Board of Selectmen is for a two-year term. A sixmember Board of Finance is responsible for presenting fiscal operating budgets to the Annual Town
Meeting. Board of Finance members are elected for four-year terms. A nine-member elected Board of
Education is responsible for the operation of the school system.
The Planning and Zoning Commission is a 12-member commission appointed by the Board of Selectmen
to adopt and enforce zoning and subdivision regulations and to guide the growth and development of
the Town of Madison through preparation and adoption of a Plan of Conservation and Development.
The Commission is staffed by a Director of Planning & Economic Development who advises the
Commission on land use matters and directs the daily operation of the land use office. The Board of
Selectmen also appoints a seven-member Economic Development Commission whose role is to identify
and foster opportunities for economic growth within the community.
The Town of Madison provides municipal services in the functional areas of Public Safety, Public Works,
Land and Building administration, Health and Welfare, Beach and Recreation, and the PreK-12 Public
Education System. The Town also provides significant support to the Madison Public Library, The
Madison Ambulance and the two Volunteer Fire Departments.
The Town maintains an encumbrance accounting system as one technique of accomplishing budgetary
controls. As demonstrated by the budgetary schedules included in the financial section of this report,
the Town continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management. In addition to budgetary
schedules, the Notes to Basic Financial Statements describe the budget process used by the Town. The
strength of the Town's economic circumstances and quality of municipal management are reflected in
the Town's bond ratings, which remain at the highest levels obtainable, as awarded Aaa by Moody's
Investors Service, AAA by Standard & Poor's, and AAA by Fitch Ratings.

local Economy
The Town of Madison includes a majority of year-round residents that are in the executive, professional,
technical, and managerial categories, with employment in Hartford, New Haven, Fairfield and New
London Counties and New York. According to the 2017 U.S. Census the Town's population was 18,196.
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Bus, air and rail service are available from New Haven, Hartford, Providence, Rhode Island and New
York. The Town has a newly constructed railroad station near the central business district provided by

Shore Line East, a State of Connecticut Department of Transportation Commuter Railroad that provides
commuter service between New London and New Haven during rush hours. Other Metro-North and
Amtrak connections are available from New Haven's Union Station.
The Town's unemployment rate of 3.7% compares favorably to the state's average of5.1%. Madison's
per capita personal income is $58,167 versus the states average, which is $41,087.
The Madison downtown business district has an active Chamber of Commerce organization, Business
Council Group and an active shopping and commercial area located in the south central part of the
community, extending both east and west along the Boston Post Road. In addition to the many
businesses in Town, there are numerous banking institutions, including Wells Fargo, Bank of America,
People's United Bank, Citizens Bank, Webster Bank, Key Bank, Liberty Bank, Guilford Savings Bank and
Essex Savings Bank.
The Town provides educational opportunity with publio schools grades PreK-12. In addition, within
Town there are two private schools grades PreK-8 one private school K-8, along with eight different preschool programs. Colleges and universities a short distance from Town include Middlesex Community
College and Wesleyan University, both in Middletown, approximately 20 miles north of Madison. To the
west are Quinnipiac University, Albertus Magnus College, Gateway Community College, Southern
Connecticut State University, the University of New Haven, and Yale University, all of which are located
in the Greater New Haven area.
The October 1, 2016 Gross Taxable Grand List increased by $15,640,652 to $2,886,850,845 from the
2015 Grand List of $2,871,210,193. The Town conservatively budgets revenues, therefore when
determining the Mill Rate tax collections are assumed at a 98.75% collection rate. Historically, the Town
has received over 99% in actual collections. Building permit activity and conveyance fees are highly
dependent on the economy and current market conditions. The Town is not highly dependent on State
revenues (represents 1.6% of total revenues).
The current Madison housing inventory shows 89% of single family homes versus 11% multifamily
homes. Madison continues to be recognized as a desirable community to live in. Families with children
continue to seek Madison as a desired location due to the excellent school system as well as the
enjoyable beaches. The population growth has showed a 30% increase over the past 37 years.
Currently, the estimated total population exceeds 18,000. Madison is also known as a popular visiting
location. Since the 1860s, the Town has maintained a large summer resident community attracted to
the Town's beaches and Long Island Sound. There are many summer renters and daily visitors that
increase the cost of demands for services and the use of our infrastructure. The Town has responded to
the population growth and the increase in demands for services by increasing relevant expenditures.
Over the past ten years, the Board of Education Budget increased by 23%, while the total Town Budget
increased 30%.
Long-Term Financial Planning
The Town maintains a Capital Improvement Program that was established in May 2015. This program
identifies the capital needs of the Town and the funding sources to support these expenditures. By
doing this, the program aids in forecasting the impact of these expenditures on the budget, as well as
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the financial condition of the Town. The program provides a planning tool that allows the Town to meet
current and future capital needs while maintaining level operating budgets each year.
A key component of the Capital Improvement Program is to identify the possible needs of financing
large projects that cannot be absorbed through the building of reserves in the capital project funds. The
Regulations of the Board of Finance include a sound debt management policy that establishes
parameters for the planning, issuance and management of debt to help insure the continued availability
of debt capacity and adherence to debt limitations.
Currently the Town has $20,700,000 in outstanding debt for General Obligation Bonds. Our annual debt
service on this debt represents 4.6% of the total Town Budget. The Board of Finance Regulation states
that 10% is the recommended limit.
The Town currently has $9,100,000 in bonds authorized but not issued for a Town Library Expansion
Building Project.
The Town is also developing a Long Range Ten Year Strategic Plan, to work in accordance with the
existing Plan of Conservation and Development, as well as the Capital Improvement Program.
Relevant Financial Policies
On January 21, 2004, the Town updated its investment policy for all financial assets of the Town,
excluding the pension plan assets. The policy limits investments to instruments maturing within one
year at the time of purchase for funds needed during the course of the fiscal year. The average maturity
of all funds invested shall not exceed six months at any time to insure liquidity. The policy also allows a
portion of the fund balance reserve and non-cyclical funds to be invested in longer term securities with
an objective of increasing the rate of return.
Short term investments of the Town may be invested in U.S. Treasury Bills, U.S. Treasury notes or bonds
maturing within one year, Insured or fully collateralized certificates of deposits of banks, Repurchase
agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities, The State of Connecticut Investment Pool, Money
Market Funds with investments in securities issued, insured or guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its
agencies, and Obligations authorized by Section 7-400, Investment of funds, Connecticut State Statute.
The portion of reserve and non-cyclical funds may be invested in longer term securities with an objective
of increasing the rate of return consistent with prudent risk management, subject to the maturities not
exceeding eight years and shall be evenly spread over the investment period. All investment securities
purchased by the Town of Madison shall be held in third party safekeeping by an institution designated
as primary agent. The primary agent shall provide to the Town a listing of the specific instrument, rate,
maturity and other pertinent information.
For Pension Funds, the Town's pension investments are governed by its Statement of Investment Policy,
Objectives, and Guidelines. The Policy details asset mix ranges for various classes of investments: Cash
Equivalents, Fixed Income Securities, Equity Securities, Mutual Funds and Exchange Traded Funds, as
well as other allowed assets, where the overall investment return is expected to exceed the actuarial
investment return assumption. Investment manager performance and compliance with the investment
policy is reviewed periodically by a committee of Town officials and a pension consultant.
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The Town has a Board of Finance regulation regarding
revised the original adopted regulation from May 23,
unassigned fund balance equaling 10% of annual Town
Even in the face of increasing operating costs for the
maintain an adequate surplus in its General Fund.

Fund Balance. On March 21, 2012, the Board
2001, which established a minimum level of
operating expenditures, excluding debt service.
Town government, Madison has been able to

As stated above, the Town also has a Debt Service Board of Finance regulation to standardize and
rationalize the issuance and management of debt.
Major Initiatives
The Town of Madison is working to increase economic development in order to grow our tax base. A
Committee has been working on obtaining public input to determine the best use for the

Academy

School, which is located in the heart of downtown. Many options are being reviewed, including selling
the School for private development as well as keeping the School for Town Offices and/or Parks. The
entire site could add as much as 5 acres of mixed use opportunities. Concurrent with that, we are
investigating ways to address wastewater issues in the downtown commercial ar ea. One possibility
could be shared systems and the establishment of a separate downtown wastewater district.
Madison received a Transit Oriented Development grant to improve connectivity between

the

train

station and the downtown area. We will be renovating the Tuxis Walkway and making the entrances
more inviting to attract pedestrian traffic. Our Planning and Zoning Commission is looking at Regulation
changes to permit Higher Density Housing near the transit district, which could allow for greater
versatility in a prime mixed use area.
On the "Marketing Madison" front, we are reaching out to major corporations and relocation firms to
highlight the Town of Madison as an attractive place to live. We are creating marketing materials and
initiatives to target firms in surrounding cities.
The Town has completed the Madison Downtown Center Project Phase I. $1,850,000 in Small Town
Economic Assistance Program (STEAP) grants were received for the improvements to the Dow ntown
area. Madison is looking to implement Phase II of the project in the upcoming fiscal year.
The Town also received an additional STEAP Grant and various donations to complete the Strong Center
Project at the Surf Club, including Field Houses.
In response to the conditions of the school facilities, as well as the decision to close an elementary
school due to declining enrollment, the Board of Education completed a School Facility Study to
determine what the School Facility needs will be for the next five to twenty years. Based on this review,
the Town is now exploring its options in order to meet the facility needs.
As part of the Town's energy savings initiative, the Town purchased all of our streetlights from
Eversource. We have completed replacement of fluorescent bulbs with LED lights on the streetlights,
and continue to do so in our schools and municipal buildings. When this program is complete the Town
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should see an estimated minimum reduction of 5% in electric consumption and costs. We have completed
the installation of seven photovoltaic systems on municipal buildings and schools, which will result in
electrical savings as well. We will continue to add systems as we find viable placement sites. We hope to
add a system as big as 1 megawatt in our bulky waste site when the virtual net metering program returns.
In addition, the Town sponsored a town wide Home Energy Solutions program for residents to have their
homes audited for energy savings.
Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Town of Madison for it Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. This was the second year that the Town applied for and
received this prestigious award. The Town understands that in order to be awarded a Certificate of
Achievement under this program, the Town must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. The report must also satisfy both accounting principles
generally accepted in the Unites States of America and applicable legal requirements. I believe this
Financial Report meets these requirements.
The Town is pleased to announce that our bond rating with Moody's Investors Service, Inc. has been
reaffirmed at their highest grading level of Aaa. In October 2016, Fitch Ratings also reaffirmed the
Town's rating at their highest grading level of AAA.
The preparation of this report on a timely basis would not have been possible without the assistance
and support of many people. I would like to express my appreciation to all those who contributed to its
preparation, including Cheryl Kuszpa, Kristen Bartosic, Kim Seegert, Jeannette Holdridge, Theresa Eula
and Christina Consiglio. I would also like to thank the Board of Selectman, the Board of Finance, and the
Board of Education for their interest and support in planning and conducting the financial operations of
the Town in a responsible and progressive manner.
Respectfully submitted,
Stacy S. Nobi tz, CPA
Director of Finance
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180 Glastonbury Boulevard, Suite 400
Glastonbury, CT 0603 3-4453
860.541.2000 main
860.541.2001 fax

mahoneysabol.com
Glastonbury
Middletown
Essex

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Finance
Town of Madison, Connecticut
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Madison, Connecticut (the “Town”) as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
the Town of Madison, Connecticut as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.
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Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and analysis on pages 3 through 15 and the information on pages 65 through 86 be presented to supplement the
basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing
the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the Town’s basic financial statements. The introductory section on pages i through x, the combining and individual
fund statements and schedules on pages 87 through 102, and the statistical section on pages 103 through 118 are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of management and
were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial
statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a
whole.
The introductory section and the statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance
on them.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 31, 2018, on
our consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Certified Public Accountants
Glastonbury, Connecticut
December 31, 2018
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TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS JUNE 30, 2018

The management of the Town of Madison, Connecticut (the “Town”) offers the readers of its financial statements
this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.
We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that
we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can be found on pages i ‐ vii of this Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report (“Report”).
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS



The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the Town exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $84,389,447 (net position). Included in this amount
is a deficit in unrestricted net position of $11,180,763. This deficit is caused by long‐term liabilities for
pension and other post‐employment benefits, which are being funded on an annual basis by the Town
based on actuarially determined contributions. The Town’s total net position increased by $3,097,274.



The Town’s total long‐term bonded debt decreased by $3,070,000 or 13.6% during the current fiscal year.



The Town’s obligations under capital leases decreased by $212,436 which is primarily due to the financing
of police vehicles and public works equipment offset by scheduled debt service payments.



As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances of $22,719,557, an increase of $1,469,106 in comparison with the prior year. Of this amount,
$10,033,555 constitutes unassigned fund balance and is available for new spending.



At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $10,034,487.
Unassigned fund balance is sufficient to cover 1.4 months of and represents 11.8% of total General Fund
GAAP basis expenditures.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Town’s basic financial statements. The
Town’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government‐wide financial statements, 2)
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary
information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.
Government‐wide Financial Statements
The government‐wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the Town’s
finances, in a manner similar to a private‐sector business.
The statement of net position presents information on all of the Town’s assets, deferred outflows and inflows of
resources and liabilities, with the difference between these elements reported as net position. Over time, increases
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town is
improving or deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how the Town’s net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change
occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement
for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Government‐wide Financial Statements (Continued)
Both of the government‐wide financial statements are intended to distinguish functions of the Town that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that
are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business‐type
activities). The governmental activities of the Town include: general government, public safety, public works, land
and building administration, health and welfare, beach and recreation, library, and education. The Town does not
have any business‐type activities.
The government‐wide financial statements include only the Town itself because there are no legally separate
organizations for which the Town is financially accountable.
The government‐wide financial statements can be found on pages 16 and 17 of this report.
Fund Financial Statements
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated
for specific activities or objectives. The Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance‐related legal requirements. All of the funds of the Town can be divided into three categories: governmental
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
Governmental Funds
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in
the government‐wide financial statements. However, unlike the government‐wide financial statements,
governmental funds financial statements focus on near‐term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well
as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in
evaluating the Town’s near‐term financing requirements.
Because the focus of governmental funds financial statements is narrower than that of the government‐wide
financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government‐wide financial statements. By doing so,
readers may better understand the long‐term impact of the Town’s near‐term financing decisions. Both the
governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes
in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and
governmental activities.
The Town maintains a number of individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental funds balance sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances for the General Fund, the Capital Projects Fund, and the Special Education Grants Fund,
which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other remaining governmental funds are combined into a
single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non‐major governmental funds is provided
as supplementary information in the form of combining statements.
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 18 through 21 of this report.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Fund Financial Statements (Continued)
Proprietary Funds
The Town maintains one type of proprietary fund. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to
accumulate and allocate costs internally among the Town’s various functions. The Town uses internal service funds
to report activities that provide supplies and services for the Town’s other programs and activities ‐ such as the
Town’s Health Internal Service Fund. Because these services benefit governmental functions, they have been
included within governmental activities in the government‐wide financial statements.
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 22 through 24 of this report.
Fiduciary Funds
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the Town government.
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government‐wide financial statements because the resources of those funds
are not available to the Town’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for
the government‐wide financial statements.
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 25 and 26 of this report.
Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the
data provided in the government‐wide and governmental funds financial statements.
Other Information
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also contains required
supplementary information, combining and individual fund statements and schedules, and a statistical section.
GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Net Position
Over time, net position may serve as one measure of a government’s financial position. The net position of the
Town totaled $84,389,447 and $81,292,173, as adjusted, as of June 30, 2018 and 2017. The adjustment does not
include deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB.
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GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Net Position (Continued)
The net position of the Town as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 is summarized as follows:
2018
Current and other assets
Capital assets, net
Total assets

2017
(As Adjusted)

$ 33,762,874 $ 32,648,559
116,311,225
118,152,382
150,074,099
150,800,941

Deferred outflows of resources
Long‐term liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

2,441,496

4,521,653

58,725,629
2,197,443
60,923,072

63,209,606
2,088,014
65,297,620

7,203,076

8,732,801

94,047,054
92,564,811
1,523,156
1,527,279
(11,180,763)
(12,799,917)
$ 84,389,447 $ 81,292,173
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GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Net Position (Continued)
111.4% of the Town’s net position as of June 30, 2018 reflects its investment in capital assets, less any related debt
used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The Town uses these capital assets to provide services to
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the Town’s investment in its
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must
be provided from other sources since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
1.8 % of the Town’s net position as of June 30, 2018 is subject to external restrictions on how they may be used and

are, therefore, presented as restricted.
The remainder of the Town’s net position is a deficit in unrestricted net position of $11,180,763. This deficit is
caused by long‐term liabilities for pension and other post‐employment benefits, which are being funded on an
annual basis by the Town based on actuarially determined contributions.
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GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Changes in Net Position
Changes in net position for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 are as follows. Certain reclassifications have
been made to the amounts reported for the year ended June 30, 2017 to conform with the current year
presentation. The amounts reported for the year ended June 30, 2017 have not been adjusted for the
implementation of GASB Statement No. 75, since the effects of the adjustments on the statements of changes in net
position are not readily determinable.
2018
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
General revenues:
Property taxes
Grants and contracts not restricted to specific programs
Unrestricted investment earnings
Total revenues

$

Program expenses:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Land and building administration
Health and welfare
Beach and recreation
Library
Education
Interest expense
Total expenses
Change in net position
Net position ‐ beginning, as originally reported
Cumulative effect of implementing
new accounting standard
Net position ‐ beginning, as adjusted
Net position ‐ ending

$

63

4,014,484
13,265,003
796,810

2017
$

3,732,503
12,254,385
164,152

79,033,613
665,106
40,571
97,815,587

76,129,174
1,056,738
(27,582)
93,309,370

4,394,446
8,256,246
5,497,260
808,647
2,497,662
2,934,466
1,293,806
68,380,287
655,493
94,718,313

4,441,498
7,767,440
6,185,354
1,073,118
2,251,057
2,992,832
1,331,505
66,187,507
603,384
92,833,695

3,097,274

475,675

95,961,539

95,485,864

(14,669,366)
81,292,173

‐
95,485,864

84,389,447

$

95,961,539
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GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Changes in Net Position (Continued)
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GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
Governmental Activities
Governmental activities increased the Town’s net position by $3,097,274. Revenues generated by the Town
increased by $4,506,217 or 4.8% and expenses increased by $1,884,618 or 2.0%, when compared to the prior year.
The increase in revenues was a result of an increase of approximately $2.9 million or 3.8% in property taxes driven
by a 3.06% increase in the Town’s mill rate.
The increase in expenses was driven by an increase of $2.2 million or 3.3% in education expenses, which were
impacted by increases in contractual services, salaries and related employee benefits. These increases were offset
by other reductions in expenses, including additional road work completed in the prior fiscal year.
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN’S FUNDS
As noted earlier, the Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance‐related legal
requirements.
Governmental Funds
The focus of the Town’s governmental funds is to provide information on near‐term inflows, outflows, and balances
of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the Town’s financing requirements. In particular,
unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the Town’s net resources available for spending at the
end of the fiscal year.
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of
$22,719,557, an increase of $1,469,106 from the prior year combined ending fund balance of $21,250,451.
General Fund
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Town. At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund
balance of the General Fund was $10,034,487, while total fund balance was $10,991,720. As a measure of the
General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare unassigned fund balance to total fund expenditures.
Unassigned fund balance represents 11.8% of total General Fund expenditures. Expressed another way, unassigned
fund balance for the General Fund was sufficient to cover 1.4 months of General Fund operating expenditures.
The fund balance of the Town’s General Fund decreased by $575,533 during the current fiscal year due to a planned
use of fund balance to fund operating expenditures, as well as special appropriations that were made during the
year.
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GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN’S FUNDS (Continued)
General Fund (Continued)
Budgetary Highlights
The original budget for the year ended June 30, 2018 planned for the utilization of fund balance in the amount of
$600,000. During the year, additional appropriations were approved in the amount of $1,614,888. The actual
decrease in fund balance of the General Fund on a budgetary basis was only $153,284. Revenues and other
financing sources were $1,541,033 higher than expected and expenditures and other financing uses were $520,571
higher than estimated.
Special Appropriations during the year totaled $1,614,888 for the following purposes:











$350,000 Contribution to Debt Service Reserve Fund
$270,000 Contribution to the BOE Furniture Plan
$100,000 Public Works tree and brush removal
$49,500 Snow removal
$600,000 Contribution to the Library Building Construction Project
$75,000 Heart and Hypertension settlement
$45,389 Dispatch Overtime account
$35,000 Communication Equipment upgrade
$30,000 Special Duty Overtime Police wages
$60,000 Replacement Overtime Police wages

Budgetary Highlights are as follows:
Property tax revenue was $1,115,807 higher than budgeted due to payments and interest on back taxes and a tax
collection rate in excess of 98.75%.
Various fees and charges for services were also higher than budgeted. The Board of Selectmen revenue includes an
unbudgeted insurance rebate and other miscellaneous revenue. The Town Clerk, Building and Health Department
received fees in excess of their approved budget. The Police Department’s revenue was $74,046 more than
anticipated due to Special outside Duty reimbursements. Offsetting these increases was $181,200 of
Intergovernmental Revenue that was less than budgeted.
Investment income was over budget by $49,147. Investment income of $308,741 on a budgetary basis excludes
unrealized losses in the amount of $292,909 recognized on a GAAP basis. The Town’s General Fund investment
portfolio includes government fixed income securities, which are required to be accounted for at fair value. The fair
value of the portfolio is sensitive to changes in interest rates. As short‐term interest rates moved higher, the fair
value of the Town’s portfolio decreases. However, the Town established this portfolio with the intention of holding
the securities to maturity and, therefore, any market fluctuations are considered temporary since the market value
associated with these investments will revert to cost at maturity. As such, the Town has excluded unrealized losses
from its budgetary results.
It was anticipated that the Beach and Recreation Department’s program account would return $88,500 to the
General Fund; however the actual return was $68,500.
Town departments made rigorous efforts to curtail expenditures which contributed a $520,571 positive variance
compared to the budget. This included $159,818 of Board of Education expenditures.
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GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN’S FUNDS (Continued)
Propriety Funds
The internal service funds’ net position increased by $851,456 this year. The Town maintains a positive net position
of $2,211,706.
Capital Projects Fund
The Capital Projects Fund has a fund balance of $9,483,372 as of June 30, 2018, an increase of $2,131,327 from the
prior year fund balance of $7,352,045. This increase is attributable to the transfer in of $5,272,376 from the General
Fund and $567,762 of grant proceeds for the purpose of funding current and future capital outlays. These
contributions were offset by capital outlays for various projects and purchases.
Special Education Grants Fund
The Special Education Grants Fund has a fund balance of $17,782 as of June 30, 2018, a decrease of $6,192 from the
prior year fund balance of $23,974.
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Capital Assets
The Town’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities (net of accumulated depreciation) as of June
30, 2018 and 2017 totaled $116,311,225 and $118,152,382, respectively. This investment in capital assets includes
land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, equipment and vehicles, and infrastructure, including
park facilities, roads, bridges, and water and storm sewers. The net decrease in the Town’s investment in capital
assets for the current fiscal year was $1,841,157 or 1.6%, due primarily to current year depreciation on Town Assets.
Governmental Activities
2018
2017
$ 21,919,276 $ 21,919,276
2,989,429
2,864,989
68,603,255
70,716,326
7,910,190
7,335,414
14,889,075
15,316,377
$ 116,311,225 $ 118,152,382

Land
Construction in progress
Buildings and improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Infrastructure
Totals
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION (Continued)

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the purchase of an ambulance, significant
upgrades to the Strong Center field houses, outlays for police vehicles, the financing of public works equipment and
continued improvements performed in connection with the Downtown Center Project.
Additional information on the Town’s capital assets can be found in Note 4 of this report.
Long‐Term Debt
At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town had total principal outstanding on long‐term debt, consisting of
bonds and capital lease obligations, of $21,737,790. This entire amount is comprised of debt backed by the full faith
and credit of the Town.
The Town’s total long‐term debt decreased by $3,282,436 during the current fiscal year due to scheduled principal
repayments of $3,696,746 offset by new capital lease arrangements entered into in the amount of $414,310. The
proceeds from the capital lease were primarily used to finance police vehicles and public works equipment.
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION (Continued)
The following table is a two year comparison of long‐term debt:
2018
General obligation bonds
Capital lease obligations
Totals

$
$

19,430,000 $
2,307,790
21,737,790 $

2017
22,500,000
2,520,226
25,020,226

The Town’s capital plan is established to control the level of capital expenditures and debt service expenditures in
order to maintain a level amount of debt service expenditures and to avoid any sharp increase in property tax rates.
Debt levels are managed to ensure that debt service requirements of new debt reasonably coincide with the normal
amortization of existing debt service expenditures.
State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt the Town may issue to seven times its annual receipts
from taxation, as defined by the statutes. The current capacity of borrowing for the Town is significantly in excess
of the Town’s outstanding general obligation debt.
Additional information on the Town’s long‐term debt can be found in Note 7 to the basic financial statements.
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES
A summary of key economic factors affecting the Town are as follows:


Inflationary trends in the region approximate the national indices.



Significant estimates affecting next year’s budget that are subject to change in the near term consist of the
following:
o

For purposes of calculating property tax revenues for fiscal year 2019, the assessor’s grand list was
used along with an estimated tax rate, and an estimated rate of collection, with deductions for
taxes to be paid by the State on behalf of certain taxpayers.

o

Intergovernmental grants were based on estimates from the Governor’s proposed biennial budget,
modified for certain Town assumptions, which included significant reductions in municipal aid.

All of these factors were considered in preparing the Town’s budget for fiscal year 2019.
The fiscal year 2019 budget was adopted by the Town in May 2018. The budget provides for $83,067,201 in
expenditures, a 1.44% increase over the fiscal year 2018 original adopted budget and allows the Town to continue
maintaining the same level of programs and services to its residents. The budget resulted in a 2.7% increase in the
Town’s mill rate from 27.30 mills to 28.04. In addition, the Town has planned for a utilization of fund balance in the
amount of $105,000 to limit the overall increase in the mill rate.
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town’s finances for all those with an interest in
the Town’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional
information should be addressed to the Finance Department, Town of Madison, at 8 Campus Drive, Madison,
Connecticut 06443.
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Governmental
Activities
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables:
Property taxes and interest
Grants and contracts
Other
Capital assets:
Non-depreciable
Depreciable, net
Total assets

$

20,101,001
12,153,153
1,012,347
294,566
201,807
24,908,705
91,402,520
150,074,099

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred charges on refundings
Deferred charges on pension expense
Total deferred outflows of resources

728,381
1,713,115
2,441,496

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued interest
Unearned revenue
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year
Due in more than one year
Total liabilities

2,115,863
65,092
16,488
4,226,781
54,498,848
60,923,072

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred charges on pension expense
Deferred charges on OPEB expense
Advance tax collections
Total deferred inflows of resources

582,558
805,260
5,815,258
7,203,076

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Trust purposes - expendable
Grant programs
Unrestricted
Total net position

94,047,054

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements .
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481,696
1,041,460
(11,180,763)
84,389,447

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Functions/Programs
Primary Government:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Land and building administration
Health and welfare
Beach and recreation
Library
Education
Interest expense
Total governmental activities

Charges for
Services

Expenses

$

$

4,394,446
8,256,246
5,497,260
808,647
2,497,662
2,934,466
1,293,806
68,380,287
655,493
94,718,313

$

Program Revenues
Operating
Grants and
Contributions

992,331
144,710
14,143
543,384
168,504
1,065,425
1,085,987
4,014,484

$

Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Changes in
Net Position

$

$

37,888
8,966
321,490
223,329
12,673,330
13,265,003

Capital
Grants and
Contributions

$

$

713,802
51,080
31,928
796,810

Governmental
Activities

$

General revenues:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs
Unrestricted investment earnings, net
Total general revenues

79,033,613
665,106
40,571
79,739,290

Change in net position

3,097,274

Net position - beginning, as originally reported
Cumulative effect of implementation new
accounting standard (See Note 1 )
Net position - beginning, as adjusted
Net position - ending
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(3,364,227)
(8,102,570)
(4,447,825)
(265,263)
(2,054,749)
(1,869,041)
(1,293,806)
(54,589,042)
(655,493)
(76,642,016)

95,961,539
(14,669,366)
81,292,173
$

84,389,447

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2018

General
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables:
Property taxes
Interest on property taxes
Grants and contracts
Other
Due from other funds
Inventories
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Unearned revenue
Total liabilities

$

$

$

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue - property taxes and interest
Advance property tax collections
Total deferred inflows of resources
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

9,744,156
12,153,153
889,434
122,913
175,156
4,317,392
27,402,204

578,962
9,132,262
9,711,224

$

$

$

884,002
5,815,258
6,699,260

27,402,204

997,000
247,116
8,939,981
10,184,097

505,855
194,870
700,725

$

$

$

-

957,233
10,034,487
10,991,720
$

Special
Education
Grants
Fund

Capital
Projects
Fund
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10,184,097

1,904
3,846,995

13,625
3,799,100
16,488
3,829,213

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

$

$

$

-

8,819,854
663,518
9,483,372
$

3,845,091
-

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

3,846,995

45,546
4,289
189,626
22,362
2,774,056

223,789
323,584
547,373

$

$

-

17,782
17,782
$

2,512,233
-

2,774,056

889,434
122,913
294,566
179,445
13,446,999
22,362
44,207,352

1,322,231
13,449,816
16,488
14,788,535

884,002
5,815,258
6,699,260

22,362
1,505,374
699,879
(932)
2,226,683
$

17,098,480
12,153,153

22,362
1,523,156
9,519,733
1,620,751
10,033,555
22,719,557
$

44,207,352

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2018

Total fund balance for governmental funds

$

22,719,557

Total net position reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net position is different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds. Those assets
consist of:
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings and improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Infrastructure
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total capital assets, net

$

21,919,276
2,989,429
106,380,761
16,434,018
31,190,578
(62,602,837)
116,311,225

Some of the Town's taxes, assessments, interest and loans receivables will
be collected after year end, but are not available soon enough to pay for the
current period's expenditures, and therefore are reported as deferred inflows
of resources in the funds.

884,002

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources resulting from changes in the
components of the Town's net pension and total OPEB liabilities are reported
in the statement of net position.

325,297

Long-term liabilities applicable to the Town's governmental activities are
not due and payable in the current period and accordingly are not reported
as fund liabilities. All liabilities - both current and long-term - are reported
in the statement of net position.
Accrued interest payable
Long-term debt:
Bonds payable
Unamortized bond premiums
Deferred charges on refunding
Other long-term liabilities:
Capital lease obligations
Heart and Hypertension obligations
Compensated absences
Early retirement incentive
Net pension liabilities
Total OPEB liability
Total long-term liabilities

(65,092)
(19,430,000)
(1,254,762)
728,381
(2,307,790)
(1,196,414)
(1,463,871)
(905,666)
(12,533,108)
(19,634,018)
(58,062,340)

An internal service fund is used by the Town to charge the cost of risk
management activities to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of
the internal service fund are included in governmental activities in the
statement of net position.
Net position of governmental activities

2,211,706
$

75

84,389,447

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

General
Fund
REVENUES
Property taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Income on investments
Contributions
Other
Total revenues

$

EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Land and building administration
Health and welfare
Beach and recreation
Library
Education
Insurance, employee benefits and other
Capital outlays
Debt service:
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal charges
Total expenditures

78,922,266
8,338,172
2,099,399
15,832
2,860
89,378,529

Special
Education
Grants
Fund

Capital
Projects
Fund
$

567,762
2,244
570,006

$

972,957
972,957

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds
$

507,894
1,880,066
24,740
98,752
87,699
2,599,151

Total
Governmental
Funds
$

78,922,266
10,386,785
3,979,465
40,572
100,996
90,559
93,520,643

2,281,160
5,055,291
2,970,095
619,574
1,340,773
1,341,949
1,318,133
61,414,283
4,666,458
47,321

3,377,567

979,149
-

295
5,502
356,966
278,578
657,926
1,195,099
152,681
-

2,281,455
5,060,793
3,327,061
619,574
1,619,351
1,999,875
1,318,133
63,588,531
4,819,139
3,424,888

3,070,000
678,044
84,803,081

626,746
32,257
4,036,570

979,149

2,647,047

3,696,746
710,301
92,465,847

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

4,575,448

(3,466,564)

(6,192)

(47,896)

1,054,796

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Capital lease financing
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

176,395
(5,327,376)
(5,150,981)

414,310
5,272,376
(88,795)
5,597,891

-

112,900
(145,500)
(32,600)

414,310
5,561,671
(5,561,671)
414,310

(575,533)

2,131,327

(6,192)

(80,496)

1,469,106

11,567,253

7,352,045

23,974

2,307,179

21,250,451

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - beginning
Fund balances - ending

$

10,991,720

$
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9,483,372

$

17,782

$

2,226,683

$

22,719,557

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

$

1,469,106

Total change in net position reported for governmental activities in the statement of
activities is different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. The amount by which
capital outlays exceeded depreciation and amortization expense in the current
period is as follows:
Expenditures for capital assets
Depreciation and amortization expense
Net adjustment

$

1,808,172
(3,643,988)
(1,835,816)

In the statement of activities, only the gain (loss) on the sale of capital assets
is reported whereas the proceeds from the sale increase financial
resources in the governmental funds.

(5,341)

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources resulting from changes in the
components of the net pension and Total OPEB liabilities are amortized as
a component of pension and OPEB expenses in the statement of activities.

(1,933,797)

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of principal on long-term debt
consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither
transaction, however, has any effect on net position. The net effect of
these differences in the treatment of long-term obligations is as follows:
Debt issued or incurred:
Capital lease financing
Principal repayments:
Bonds and notes payable
Capital lease financing
Net adjustment

(414,310)
3,070,000
626,746
3,282,436

Certain revenues reported in the statement of activities do not provide current
financial resources and therefore are reported as unavailable revenues in
the governmental funds. This amount represents the change in unavailable revenues.

111,347

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental
funds, expenditures are not recognized for transactions that are not normally
paid with expendable available financial resources. In the statement of
activities, however, which is presented on the accrual basis, expenses and
liabilities are reported regardless of when financial resources are available.
In addition, interest on long-term debt is not recognized under the modified
accrual basis of accounting until due, rather than as it accrues. The net
effect of such items is as follows:
Accrued interest
Deferred charges on refunding
Unamortized bond premiums
Heart and Hypertension obligations
Compensated absences
Early retirement incentives
Net pension liabilities
Total OPEB liability

13,844
(57,502)
98,466
68,621
(54,768)
681,712
(54,523)
462,033
1,157,883

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. The net revenue (expense) of the internal
service fund is reported within governmental activities.
Change in net position of governmental activities

851,456
$
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3,097,274

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF PROPRIETARY NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2018

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from other funds
Total assets

$

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Claims payable
Total liabilities

3,002,521
2,817
3,005,338

2,632
791,000
793,632

NET POSITION
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

$
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27,970
2,183,736
2,211,706

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service Funds
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services
Total operating revenues

$

OPERATING EXPENSES
Claims incurred
Administrative expenses
Total operating expense

11,696,317
11,696,317

9,888,722
963,501
10,852,223

Operating income

844,094

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Investment income
Total nonoperating income

7,362
7,362

Change in net position

851,456

Total net position - beginning of year

1,360,250

Total net position - end of year

$

79

2,211,706

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from charges for services
Cash payments for claims incurred
Cash payments to providers of benefits
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income
Net cash provided by investing activities

11,710,959
(9,812,590)
(963,501)
934,868

7,362
7,362

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

942,230

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

2,060,291

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash used in operating activities
Decrease in receivables
Increase in accounts payable
Increase in claims payable
Increase in due to (from) other funds
Net cash provided by operating activities
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$

3,002,521

$

844,094

$

15,081
(34,868)
111,000
(439)
934,868

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2018

Pension
Trust
Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments:
U.S. Treasury securities
Corporate bonds
Equity securities
Mutual funds
Exchange traded funds
Real estate investment trusts
Receivables
Total assets

$

Agency
Funds

1,064,932
4,404,996
5,768,049
1,938,066
12,686,636
7,706,213
591,141
34,160,033

LIABILITIES
Payables
Due to others
Unearned revenue
Total liabilities

-

NET POSITION
Restricted for pensions

$
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34,160,033

$

1,015,485

$

29,709
1,045,194

$

$

177,944
861,027
6,223
1,045,194

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Pension
Trust
Funds
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Employer
Plan members
Total contributions

$

Investment earnings:
Net change in the fair value of
investment, net of fees
Interest and dividends
Total investment earnings
Total additions

1,714,915
168,532
1,883,447

2,084,837
255,849
2,340,686
4,224,133

DEDUCTIONS
Benefit payments
Administrative expenses
Total deductions

2,789,226
85,422
2,874,648

Change in net position

1,349,485

Net position - beginning

32,810,548

Net position - ending

$
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34,160,033

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies of the Town of Madison, Connecticut (the “Town”) conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, as applicable to governmental organizations. The following is a summary of
significant accounting policies:
Financial Reporting Entity
The Town operates under the provisions of its charter and the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut. The
legislative body is the Town Meeting. The executive body is made up of a Board of Selectmen, consisting of a First
Selectman and four other board members. Election to the Board of Selectmen is for two-year terms. A six-member
Board of Finance is responsible for presenting fiscal operating budgets to the Annual Town Meeting. Board of
Finance members are elected for four-year terms. A nine-member elected Board of Education is responsible for the
operation of the Town’s public school system.
Government-wide Financial Statements
The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the Town and include the
financial activities of the overall government, except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to
minimize the double-counting of internal activities, however interfund services provided and used are not
eliminated in the process of consolidation. The statements are intended to distinguish between governmental and
business-type activities. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues,
and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to
external parties. The Town has no business-type activities.
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function. Program
revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services,
or privileges provided by a given function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular function. Taxes and other items not properly included among
program revenues are reported as general revenues.
Fund Financial Statements
The fund financial statements provide information about the Town’s funds, including its fiduciary funds. Separate
statements for each fund category – governmental, proprietary and fiduciary - are presented. The emphasis of fund
financial statements is on major governmental funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining
governmental funds are aggregated and reported as non-major funds.
The Town reports the following major governmental funds:
General Fund - This fund is the Town’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
Capital Projects Fund - This fund is used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or
construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by Proprietary Funds or Trust Funds). The major
sources of revenue for this fund are annual transfers from the General Fund, bond proceeds and grant revenues.
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TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fund Financial Statements (Continued)
Special Education Grants Fund - This fund is used to account for education related grants from the State of
Connecticut and federal government.
In addition, the Town reports the following fund types:
Internal Service Funds - These funds account for certain risk management activities of the Town.
Pension Trust Funds - These funds are used to account for resources held in trust for the members and beneficiaries
of the Town’s retirement pension plans.
Agency Funds - These funds are used to account for resources held by the Town in a purely custodial capacity. The
Town utilizes these funds to account for assets of the following: student activities funds, performance bonds funds,
DHHS athletics funds and other activities of the Town. The student activities fund account for monies generated by
student activities in the Town’s school system. The performance bonds fund accounts for monies received to ensure
that driveways and lawns are installed to correct specifications for new home construction. The DHHS athletics fund
accounts for monies generated by athletic programs in the Town’s school system.
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and basis of
accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as current financial resources
or economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or events for recognition in the
financial statements.
The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when a liability in incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized
as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.
The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus
and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measureable and
available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is
incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to
compensated absences, and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. General capital asset
acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Issuance of long-term debt and acquisitions under
capital lease are reported as other financing sources.
Property taxes and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual
and so have been recognized as revenues in the current fiscal period. Entitlements are recorded as revenues when
all eligibility requirements are met, including any time requirements, and the amount is received during the period
or within the availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of year end). Expenditure-driven grants are
recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other eligibility requirements
have been met, and the amount is available to be received during the period or within the availability period for this
revenue source (within 60 days of year end). All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available
only when the cash is received.
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TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued)
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the Town’s internal service
funds are charges to customers for services. Operating expenses for the internal service funds include the cost of
services and administrative expenses. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
The pension trust funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. The agency funds have no measurement focus but utilizes the accrual basis of accounting for reporting
its assets and liabilities.
Implementation of New Accounting Standards
Effective July 1, 2017, the Town adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017, and GASB
Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues. The adoption of these statements did not have a material
effect on the Town’s financial statements.
Effective July 1, 2017, the Town adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. GASB
Statement No. 75 established standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows and inflows of
resources, and expenses/expenditures for postemployment benefits other than pensions. This standard identifies
the methods and assumptions that are required to be used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit
payments to their actuarial present value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee service. In
addition, this statement provides for certain required supplementary information and note disclosures about
postemployment benefits other than pensions.
The Town has reported the following cumulative effect of applying GASB Statement No. 75 as an adjustment of
beginning net position as of July 1, 2017. The adjustment does not included deferred outflows of resources or
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB.
Governmental
Activities
Net position - beginning, as originally reported

$ 95,961,539

Adjustment to remove net other post-employment benefit obligation
recognized under GASB Statement No. 45
Adjustment to record total other post-employment liability
recognized under GASB Statement No. 75

5,426,685
(20,096,051)
(14,669,366)
$ 81,292,173

Net position - beginning, as adjusted
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TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Town’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.
Investments
Investments are measured by the Town at fair value (generally based on quoted market prices), except for
investments in certain external investment pools as described below.
Investments in certain external investment pools consist of money market mutual funds and the Short-Term
Investment Fund (STIF), which is managed by the State of Connecticut Treasurer's Office. Investments in these types
of funds, which are permitted to measure their investment holdings at amortized costs, are measured by the Town
at the net asset value per share as determined by the pool.
Donor-restricted Endowments
The Town allocates investment income on endowment investments in accordance with donor restrictions and
Connecticut law. The State of Connecticut has adopted the provisions of the Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA). UPMIFA requires the investment of endowments in good faith and with the care
that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances. It requires prudence
in incurring investment costs, authorizing only costs that are appropriate and reasonable. Factors to be considered
in investing are expanded to include, for example, the effects of inflation. UPMIFA emphasizes that investment
decisions be made in relation to the overall resources of the Town.
Property Taxes and Assessments
Property taxes are assessed as of October 1 and are levied on the following July 1. Real estate and personal
property taxes are due in two installments, July 1 and the following January 1. Motor vehicle taxes are payable on
July 1 and supplemental motor vehicle taxes are payable on January 1. Taxes become delinquent thirty days after
the installment is due and liens are filed on delinquent real estate taxes on May 1 st following the due date. Based
on historical collection experience and other factors, the Town has not established an allowance for uncollectible
taxes and interest as of June 30, 2018.
Capital Assets
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks
and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the
government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial,
individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at
historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at
acquisition value at the date of donation.
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AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance (Continued)
Capital Assets (Continued)
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets
lives are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are
constructed.
Capital assets of the primary government are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:
Assets
Buildings and improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Infrastructure

Years
25-50
3-20
10-65

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources
Deferred outflows and inflows of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow or outflow of resources until that time.
Deferred outflows of resources consists of deferred charges on refundings and deferred charges on pension
expenses that are reported in the government-wide statement of net position. Deferred charges on refundings are
amortized to interest expense using the effective-interest method over the life of the related bonds. Deferred
charges on pension expenses are amortized as a component of pension expense on a systematic and rational basis.
Deferred inflows of resources consist of revenue that is considered unavailable under the modified accrual basis of
accounting and deferred charges on pension and OPEB expenses. Unavailable revenue is reported in the
governmental funds balance sheet and is recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts
become available. Deferred charges on pension and OPEB expenses are reported in the government-wide
statement of net position and are amortized as a component of pension and OPEB expenses on a systematic and
rational basis.
Unearned Revenue
Unearned revenue represents resources that have been received but not yet earned.
Compensated Absences and Employee Retirement Obligations
It is the Town’s policy to permit employees to accumulate unused sick and vacation pay benefits. Benefits are
determined by union contracts. Certain Board of Education personnel are also eligible for certain retirement incentives
that are paid out over time. In addition, certain police employees are eligible for heart and hypertension benefits.
All compensated absences and employee retirement obligations are accrued when incurred in the government-wide
and fiduciary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in the governmental fund financial
statements in the current year to the extent they have matured, or the vested amount is expected to be paid with
available resources.
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AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance (Continued)
Long-term Obligations
In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as
liabilities in the statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life
of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium
or discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed when incurred.
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts in the year the debt
is issued. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt
issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing
uses. Bond issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt
service expenditures.
Net Position and Fund Balances
The government-wide statement of net position presents the Town’s non-fiduciary assets, deferred outflows and
inflows of resources, and liabilities, with the difference reported as net position. Net position is reported in three
categories:
Net investment in capital assets - This category consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization and reduced by outstanding balances for bonds, notes and other debt that are attributed to the
acquisition, construction or improvement of capital assets.
Restricted - This category of net position consists of amounts whose use is restricted either through external
restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, and the like, or through restrictions imposed by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
Unrestricted - This category of net position consists of amounts which do not meet the definition of the two
preceding categories.
The Town’s governmental funds report the following fund balance categories:
Nonspendable - Amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable form or they are legally or
contractually required to be maintained intact.
Restricted - Constraints placed on the use of resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors or laws and regulations of other governments, or imposed by law through enabling legislation.
Committed - Amounts can be only used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of
the Board of Finance (the highest level of decision making authority of the Town) and cannot be used for any other
purpose unless the Town removes or changes the specified use by taking the same formal action. The formal action
required to be taken by the Board of Finance to commit fund balance includes formal voting procedures regulated
by the Town Charter (passing of a resolution).
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AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance (Continued)
Net Position and Fund Balances (Continued)
Assigned - Amounts are constrained by the government’s intent to be used for specific purposes, but are not
restricted or committed. Amounts may be constrained to be used for a specific purpose by a governing board or
body or official that has been delegated authority to assign amounts by Town Charter. The Board of Finance has
delegated the responsibility to assign funds to the Town’s Director of Finance, with the exception of those amounts
assigned by the Board of Finance during the Town’s annual budgeting process. Funds are assigned through the
approval of a valid purchase order resulting in an encumbering of the funds as of year end.
Unassigned - Residual classification for the General Fund or amounts necessary in other governmental funds to
eliminate otherwise negative fund balance amounts in the other four categories.
Net Position Flow Assumption
Sometimes the Town will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources. In
order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net position and unrestricted net position in the governmentwide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the
resources are considered to be applied.
The Town does not have a formal policy over net position. In practice, the Town considers restricted net position to
have been depleted before unrestricted net position is applied.
Fund Balance Flow Assumption
It is the Town’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. Unrestricted
resources are used in the following order: committed; assigned; then unassigned. It is the Town’s policy to maintain
an unassigned fund balance in the General Fund of a minimum of 10% of the ensuing fiscal year’s operating
expenditures.
Interfund Receivables and Payables
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the
fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e. the current portion of interfund loans) or
“advances to/from other funds” (i.e. the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances
between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds”.
Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial statements, are offset by a restricted fund balance
designation (non-spendable) in the General Fund and by a restricted, committed, or assigned fund balance
designation of other governmental funds to indicate that they are not available for appropriation and are not
expendable available financial resources.
Interfund Services Provided and Used
Sales and purchases of goods and services between funds for a price approximating their external exchange value
are reported as revenues and expenditures, or expenses, in the applicable funds.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance (Continued)
Net Position and Fund Balances (Continued)
Interfund Transfers
Interfund transfers represent flows of assets without equivalent flows of assets in return and without a requirement
for repayment. In governmental funds, transfers are reported as other financing uses in the funds making transfers
and other financing sources in the funds receiving transfers.
Interfund Reimbursements
Interfund reimbursements represent repayments from the funds responsible for particular expenditures or
expenses to the funds that initially paid for them.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
NOTE 2 - CASH DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Cash Deposits
Custodial Credit Risk
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Town will not be able to recover its deposits or
will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Town’s policy
provides for uninsured demand and time deposits with banks and savings and loan institutions to be collateralized as
prescribed in the Connecticut General Statutes. In addition, in order to anticipate market changes and provide for a
level of security for all funds, all public deposits shall be held in qualified public depositories. As of June 30, 2018, the
carrying amount of the Town’s cash deposits was $13,400,949. As of June 30, 2018, $11,569,741 of the Town’s bank
balance of $12,215,500 was exposed to custodial credit risk as follows:
Uninsured and uncollateralized
Uninsured and collateralized with securities held by the pledging
bank's trust department or agent but not in the Town's name

$

10,412,767

$

1,156,974
11,569,741

All of the Town’s deposits were in qualified public institutions as defined by Connecticut General Statutes. Under this
statute, any bank holding public deposits must at all times maintain, segregated from its other assets, eligible collateral
in an amount equal to a certain percentage of its public deposits. The applicable percentage is determined based on
the bank’s risk-based capital ratio. The amount of public deposits is determined based on either the public deposits
reported on the most recent quarterly call report, or the average of the public deposits reported on the four most
recent quarterly call reports, whichever is greater. The collateral is kept in the custody of the trust department of
either the pledging bank or another bank in the name of the pledging bank.
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NOTE 2 - CASH DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)
Cash Deposits (Continued)
Custodial Credit Risk (Continued)
A reconciliation of the Town’s cash deposits as of June 30, 2018 is as follows:
Government-wide statement of net position:
Cash and cash equivalents
Statement of fiduciary net position:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

20,101,001
2,080,417
22,181,418

Less: cash equivalents considered investments
for disclosure purposes

(8,780,469)
$

13,400,949

Investments
A reconciliation of the Town’s investments as of June 30, 2018 is as follows:
Government-wide statement of net position:
Investments
Statement of fiduciary net position:
Investments

$

12,153,153
33,095,101
45,248,254

Add: cash equivalents considered investments
for disclosure purposes

8,780,469
$

54,028,723

As of June 30, 2018, the Town’s investments consisted of the following:
Investment Maturities
(In Years)
Investment type
DEBT SECURITIES:
Governmental Activities:
Short-Term Investment Fund
U.S. Agency securities
Fiduciary Activities:
Short-Term Investment Fund
Money market mutual funds
Corporate bonds
U.S. Treasury securities
OTHER INVESTMENTS:
Fiduciary Activities:
Mutual funds
Equity securities
Exchange traded funds
Real estate investment trusts
Total Investments

Valuation
Basis

Net asset value
Fair value
Net asset value
Net asset value
Fair value
Fair value

Fair value
Fair value
Fair value
Fair value

Less
Than 1

Value

$

7,384,494
12,153,153
331,043
1,064,932
5,768,049
4,404,996
31,106,667

12,686,636
1,938,066
7,706,213
591,141
$ 54,028,723
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$

$

1 to 5

7,384,494
-

$

10,040,224

331,043
1,064,932
212,436
8,992,905

3,920,017
3,080,971
$ 17,041,212

6 to 10

$

$

2,112,929
1,635,596
1,324,025
5,072,550

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 2 - CASH DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)
Investments (Continued)
Interest Rate Risk
The Town limits their maximum final stated maturities to 15 years, unless specific authority is given to exceed. To
the extent possible, the Town will attempt to match its investments with anticipated cash flow requirements.
Credit Risk
The Town has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices beyond those already limited by
Connecticut state statutes. Connecticut state statutes permit the Town to invest in: (1) obligations of the United
States, including its instrumentalities and agencies; (2) in obligations of any state or of any political subdivision,
authority or agency thereof, provided such obligations are rated within one of the top two rating categories of any
recognized rating service; (3) in shares or other interests in custodial arrangements or pools maintaining constant
net asset values and in highly rated no-load open end money market and mutual funds (with constant or fluctuating
net asset values) whose portfolios are limited to obligations of the United States and its agencies, and repurchase
agreements fully collateralized by such obligations; (4) or in obligations of the State of Connecticut or of any political
subdivision thereof, provided such obligations are rated within one of the top three rating categories of any
recognized rating service. Other provisions of the statutes cover specific municipal funds with particular investment
authority. The provisions of the statutes regarding the investment of municipal pension funds does not specify
permitted investments. Therefore, the investment of such funds is generally controlled by the laws applicable to
fiduciaries and the provisions of the applicable pension plan.
The Town’s investments in debt securities, excluding U.S. Treasury securities, were rated as follows at June 30,
2018:
Investment type
DEBT SECURITIES:
Governmental Activities:
Short-Term Investment Fund
U.S. Agency securities
Fiduciary Activities:
Short-Term Investment Fund
Money market mutual funds
Corporate bonds

AAA

$

7,384,494
331,043
-

AA

$

12,153,153
1,036,515

A

$

BBB

2,276,056

$

Unrated

2,455,478

$

1,064,932
-

Custodial Credit Risk
Custodial credit risk for an investment is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (the institution
that pledges collateral or repurchase agreement securities to the Town or that sells investments to or buys them for
the Town), the Town will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The Town does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. At June 30, 2018, the Town
did not have any uninsured and unregistered securities held by the counterparty or by its trust department or agent
that were not in the Town’s name.
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Investments (Continued)
Concentration of Credit Risk
The Town places no limit on the amount of investment in any one issuer. As of June 30, 2018, more than 10.0% of
the Town’s governmental activities investments were invested in the following:
% of
Issuer
Investment
Value
Investments
Governmental Activities:
State of CT Treasurer's Office
Short-Term Investment Fund
$ 7,384,494
37.8%
Federal Farm Credit Bank
U.S. Agency securities
5,537,196
28.3%
Federal National Mortgage Assoc.
U.S. Agency securities
3,178,390
16.3%
Additional disclosures regarding concentration of credit risks related to the Town’s fiduciary activities have been
disclosed in Note 10.
NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants, as of the measurement date. Authoritative guidance establishes a
hierarchy of valuation techniques based upon whether the inputs to those valuation techniques reflect assumptions
other market participants would use based upon market data obtained from independent sources (also referred to
as observable inputs). The Town classifies its assets and liabilities measured at fair value into Level 1 (securities
valued using quoted prices from active markets for identical assets), Level 2 (securities not traded on an active
market for which market inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly, and Level 3 (securities valued based on
unobservable inputs). The Town measures Level 2 investments based on quoted prices for similar investments in
active markets. Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.
The Town has the following financial assets that are accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30,
2018:
Significant
Other
Significant
Prices in Active
Observable
Unobservable
Financial Assets
Market
Inputs
Inputs
Measured at Fair Value
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
Governmental Activities:
U.S. Agency securities
$
$ 12,153,153
$
Fiduciary Activities:
Corporate bonds
5,768,049
4,404,996
U.S. Treasury securities
Mutual funds
12,686,636
Exchange traded funds
7,706,213
1,938,066
Equity securities
591,141
Real estate investment trusts
$ 27,327,052
$ 17,921,202
$
-
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2018 was as follows:
Beginning
Balance
Governmental Activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets, not being depreciated

$

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Infrastructure
Total capital assets, being depreciated

21,919,276
2,864,989
24,784,265

Increases

$

106,380,761
14,779,998
31,190,578
152,351,337

Ending
Balance

Decreases

124,440
124,440

$

-

1,683,732
1,683,732

(29,712)
(29,712)

$

21,919,276
2,989,429
24,908,705
106,380,761
16,434,018
31,190,578
154,005,357

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization for:
Buildings and improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Infrastructure
Total accumulated depreciation and
amortization

(35,664,435)
(7,444,584)
(15,874,201)

(2,113,071)
(1,103,615)
(427,302)

24,371
-

(37,777,506)
(8,523,828)
(16,301,503)

(58,983,220)

(3,643,988)

24,371

(62,602,837)

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net

93,368,117

(1,960,256)

(5,341)

91,402,520

Governmental activities capital assets, net

$

118,152,382

$

(1,835,816)

$

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows:
Governmental Activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Land and building administration
Health and Welfare
Beach and recreation
Education
Total depreciation and amortization expense governmental activities
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$

234,265
881,894
590,839
2,064
65,144
159,248
1,710,534

$

3,643,988

(5,341)

$

116,311,225
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NOTE 5 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
Interfund receivable and payable balances at June 30, 2018 are as follows:
Receivable Fund
Governmental Funds:
General Fund

Payable Fund
Capital Projects Fund
Special Education Grants Fund
Other Governmental Funds

Capital Projects Fund

General Fund

Other Governmental Funds

General Fund
Other Governmental Funds

Amount
$

194,870
3,799,100
323,422
4,317,392
8,939,981
189,464
162
189,626
13,446,999

Proprietary Fund:
Internal Service Fund

General Fund

2,817
$ 13,449,816

The above balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided
or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, or (3) payments between
funds are made.
NOTE 6 - INTERFUND TRANSFERS
Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2018 consisted of the following:
Transfers In
Governmental Funds
General Fund

Transfers Out
Capital Projects Fund
Other Governmental Funds

Amount
$

88,795
87,600
176,395

Capital Projects Fund

General Fund
Other Governmental Funds

5,252,376
20,000
5,272,376

Other Governmental Funds

General Fund
Other Governmental Funds

75,000
37,900
112,900
5,561,671

Total transfers

$

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the fund
that statute or budget requires to expend them, and (2) account for unrestricted revenues collected in the General
Fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.
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The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2018:

Governmental Activities
Bonds payable:
General obligation bonds
Bond premium
Total bonds payable
Other liabilities:
Capital leases
Compensated absences
Early retirement incentive
Heart and hypertension
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability

Beginning
Balance
(As Adjusted)
$ 22,500,000
1,353,228
23,853,228
2,520,226
1,409,103
1,587,378
1,265,035
12,478,585
20,096,051
$ 63,209,606

Increases
$

$

414,310
80,923
58,876
39,484
362,492
956,085

Decreases

Ending
Balance

$ (3,070,000)
(98,466)
(3,168,466)

$ 19,430,000
1,254,762
20,684,762

(626,746)
(26,155)
(740,588)
(108,105)
(307,969)
(462,033)
$ (5,440,062)

2,307,790
1,463,871
905,666
1,196,414
12,533,108
19,634,018
$ 58,725,629

Due Within
One Year
$

$

3,105,000
3,105,000
616,205
146,000
239,935
119,641
4,226,781

Long-term liabilities have typically been liquidated in the General Fund.
General Obligation Bonds
The Town issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital
facilities. General obligation bonds are direct obligations of the Town for which full faith and credit are pledged and
payable from taxes levied on all taxable properties located within the Town. General obligation bonds currently
outstanding are as follows:

Purpose of Bonds
Governmental Activities
Bonds Payable
General Obligation Refunding Bonds
General Obligation Refunding Bonds
General Obligation Bonds
General Obligation Refunding Bonds
General Obligation Refunding Bonds
General Obligation Refunding Bonds

Date of
Issue

Original
Issue

Interest
Rates

Maturity
Date

9/17/2009
9/17/2009
12/15/2010
12/15/2010
11/7/2012
5/25/2016

$ 5,720,000
12,985,000
5,910,000
6,480,000
9,200,000
8,555,000

2-4%
2-4%
3-4%
2-4%
2-3%
2-4%

12/15/2022
12/15/2024
12/15/2030
3/15/2022
3/15/2030
12/15/2030
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Amount
Outstanding

$

1,485,000
1,950,000
295,000
1,875,000
5,270,000
8,555,000
$ 19,430,000
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General Obligation Bonds (Continued)
The annual requirements to amortize bonds payable as of June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Year ending
June 30:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024-2028
2029-2031

$

$

Governmental Activities
Bonds Payable
Principal
Interest
3,105,000
$
577,157
$
2,605,000
475,332
2,550,000
389,447
2,545,000
302,313
2,155,000
215,394
4,850,000
450,370
1,620,000
60,926
19,430,000
$
$ 2,470,939

Total
3,682,157
3,080,332
2,939,447
2,847,313
2,370,394
5,300,370
1,680,926
21,900,939

Refunded Bonds
The Town has advanced refunded general obligation bonds in prior years. The difference between the reacquisition
price (the amount placed in escrow) and the net carrying amount of the refunded bonds resulted in deferred charges
on refundings. This amount, net of accumulated amortization, has been presented as a deferred outflow of
resources in the government-wide financial statements and is being amortized to interest expense using the
effective-interest method over the life of the new bonds. Amortization of deferred charges on refundings totaled
$57,502 for the year ended June 30, 2018.
The general obligation bonds refunded are considered defeased and the liability for those bonds has been removed
from the statement of net position. Proceeds from the issuance of the refunding bonds are being held by an escrow
agent in an irrevocable trust fund to provide all future debt service payments on the refunded bonds.
Legal Debt Limit
Connecticut General Statutes Section 7-374(b) provides that authorized debt of the Town shall not exceed seven
times base receipts, as defined in the Statute. Further, the Statute limits the amount of debt that may be authorized
by the Town for general purposes, schools, sewers, urban renewal and pension deficit. The Town did not exceed any
of the statutory debt limitations at June 30, 2018.
As of June 30, 2018, the Town has authorized and unissued debt in the amount of $9,100,000 for library
improvements.
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Capital Leases
A summary of assets under capital lease arrangements as of June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Dispatch equipment
Public Works vehicles and equipment
Police vehicles and equipment
Less: accumulated amortization

Governmental
Activities
$
2,577,451
540,730
462,625
(555,961)
$
3,024,845

Amortization expense related to leased property under capital lease totaled $422,542 for the year ended June 30,
2018 and is included in depreciation and amortization expense disclosed in Note 4.
Future minimum lease obligations and the net present value of these minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2018
are as follows:
Year ending
Governmental
June 30:
Activities
2019
$
663,918
2020
562,426
2021
513,926
2022
372,687
2023
322,159
Total minimum lease payments
2,435,116
Less: amount representing interest
127,326
Present value of minimum lease payments
$
2,307,790
Early Retirement Incentive
The Town provides special termination benefits to former employees in the form of an early retirement incentive.
During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town agreed to provide additional early retirement incentives in the
amount of $58,876. Payments made by the Town on existing arrangements totaled $740,588. As of June 30, 2018,
the Town’s liability for early retirement incentives totaled $905,666.
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Early Retirement Incentive (Continued)
Future annual payments on early retirement incentives as of June 30, 2018 are as follows:
Year ending
June 30:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

Governmental
Activities
$
239,935
233,715
214,102
206,139
11,775
$
905,666

NOTE 8 - FUND BALANCE
The components of fund balance for the governmental funds at June 30, 2018 are as follows:
Special
Education
Grants
Fund

Capital
Projects
Fund

General
Fund

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Total

Nonspendable:
Inventory
$
Restricted for:
Grants
Endowments
Committed to:
Capital projects
General government
Public safety
Health and welfare
Beach and recreation
Education
Assigned to:
Capital projects
General government
41,989
Public safety
1,848
Public works
252,128
Land and building administration
6,920
Health and welfare
812
Beach and recreation
1,100
Education
544,686
Insurance, employee benefits and other
2,750
Use in subsequent year's budget
105,000
Unassigned
10,034,487
$ 10,991,720

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

17,782
-

22,362

1,041,460
481,696
8,819,854
29,071
29,893
435,126
95,116
110,673

-

29,071
29,893
435,126
95,116
110,673

663,518
9,483,372

17,782

(932)
2,226,683

$

22,362

1,023,678
481,696

8,819,854
-

$

$

663,518
41,989
1,848
252,128
6,920
812
1,100
544,686
2,750
105,000
10,033,555
$ 22,719,557

Deficit Fund Balance
The Police Seizure fund, which is a nonmajor governmental fund, has a deficit fund balance as of June 30, 2018 of
$932. This deficit does not constitute a violation of statutory provisions. The Town plans to fund the deficit through
future revenues or appropriations from the General Fund.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Plan Descriptions
The Town maintains three single employer Public Retirement Systems (PERS) established and administered by the
Town to provide pension benefits for its employees. The PERS are considered to be part of the Town’s financial
reporting entity and are accounted for in the fiduciary fund financial statements as Pension Trust Funds. The Town
does not issue stand-alone financial statements for the Pension Trust Funds. The plans are established under
authority of a Town Meeting and any changes to the plans must also be approved at a Town Meeting.
Management of the Town Employees’ Pension Plan (the “Town Plan”) rests with the Employee Retirement Board,
which consists of five members, one being the Selectman designated as the Pension Liaison (Chairman).
Management of the Firemen’s Benefit Plan (the “Fire Plan”) rests with the Firemen’s Benefit Committee, which
consists of seven members; one member from North Madison Fire Company, one member from Madison Hose
Company, four members-at-large, and the Selectman designated as the Pension Liaison.
Management of the Police Pension Plan (the “Police Plan”) rests with the Police Retirement Board, which consists of
five members. The members consist of a Police Union Representative, three members-at-large, and the Selectman
designated as the Pension Liaison.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The PERS are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member contributions are recognized in the
period in which the contributions are due. Employer contributions to the plans are recognized when due and the
employer has made a formal commitment to provide contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plans.
Investments - Investments are generally measured at fair value. Securities traded on a national or international
exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. Investments in money market mutual
funds are measured at net asset value per share as determined by the fund. Investment income is recognized when
earned and gains and losses on sales or exchanges are recognized on the transaction date.
Investment policy - The investment policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be
amended by the PERS Board by a majority vote of its members. It is the policy of the PERS Board to pursue an
investment strategy that reduces risk through the prudent diversification of the portfolio across a broad selection of
distinct asset classes. The investment policy discourages the use of cash equivalents, except for liquidity purposes,
and aims to refrain from dramatically shifting asset class allocations over short time spans.
Concentrations - As of June 30, 2018, 21.2% of amounts invested in the Town Plan were invested in shares of Ishares
Core S&P 500, which is an exchange traded fund managed by BlackRock Fund Advisors. In addition, 14.9% of
amounts invested in the Town Plan were invested in shares of T. Rowe Price Small Cap Stock, which is a mutual fund
managed by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. As of June 30, 2018, 12.8% of amounts invested in the Police Plan were
invested in shares of Ishares Core S&P 500, which is an exchange traded fund managed by BlackRock Fund Advisors.
As of June 30, 2018, 15.5% of amounts invested in the Fire Plan were invested in shares of Ishares Core S&P 500
which is an exchange traded fund managed by BlackRock Fund Advisors.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Rate of return - For the year ended June 30, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on the Town Plan’s,
the Police Plan’s and the Fire Plan’s investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was 7.45%, 7.46% and
4.96%, respectively. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.
Administrative costs - A portion of the administrative costs of the Plans are funded through the Town’s General Fund
with the remaining portion funded from investment earnings of the Plans.
Plan Membership
Membership of the PERS consisted of the following as of at the date of the latest actuarial valuations:
Town
Plan
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
Terminated employees entitled to benefit but not
yet receiving them
Active employees

Police
Plan

Fire
Plan

113

42

27

61
203
377

2
20
64

2
75
104

Benefit Provisions
Town Plan - The retirement plan for Town employees is a noncontributory plan that provides retirement benefits
only. However, Town NAGE employees are required to pay 2.0% of pre-tax salary through payroll deduction to the
plan. Beginning July 1, 2004, the vesting period was reduced from 10 years to 5 years of credited service. Members
who retire at or after age 65 with 10 years of credited service are entitled to an annuity benefit, payable monthly for
life, in an amount equal to 2% average compensation (average salary over highest 5 consecutive years) times
credited service, with a maximum benefit of 70% of average compensation. Employees may elect actuarial
equivalent options including joint and survivor or contingent annuities. Early retirement is available at age 55 and 10
years of employment at a reduced benefit level.
Police Plan - The Police Plan provides retirement benefits as well as disability benefits. All benefits vest after 10
years of service. Members who retire after age 55 with 10 years of service, or 20 years of service, are entitled to an
annuity retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, in an amount equal to 2.5% of average monthly compensation,
times years of credited service (maximum 20 years).
Fire Plan - The Fire Plan provides benefits to volunteer firemen. All active firemen on July 1, 1989 are eligible for the
plan; however, all eligible members, including those over age 60 must complete at least five years of additional
service subsequent to July 1, 1989 in order to receive benefits. Firemen joining the department after July 1, 1989
become eligible for the plan on the anniversary date of the plan upon attaining one year of active service if they are
also under the age of 60. Benefits vest 50% after 12 years, 75% after 16 years and 100% after 20 years of active
service for the Madison Hose Fire department. Benefits vest 50% after 15 years, 75% after 18 years and 100% after
20 years of active service for the North Madison Fire department. Upon retirement after 20 years of active service
and having attained the age of 60, members receive monthly payments of $250 for 15 years, with the member’s
beneficiary receiving the remainder of payments in event of the member’s death. If the member dies before age 60,
the beneficiary will receive the benefits due to the member.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)
Funding Policy
Employer contribution rates are established by the Board of Selectmen and approved by the Board of Finance.
Employees covered under the police plan are required to contribute 7.5% of their earnings to the Plan. Police hired
after January 1, 2006 are required to contribute 9.0% of their salary. Town and Fire employees hired on or before
January 1, 2006 are not required to contribute to their plans. However, Town NAGE employees are required to pay
2.0% of pre-tax salary through payroll deduction to the plan. The Town is required to contribute the remaining
amounts necessary to finance the benefits for the participants as determined by its actuaries. The Town’s required
contributions to the Town, Police and Fire Plans for the year ended June 30, 2018 were $1,030,611, $586,962 and
$97,342, respectively.
Net Pension Liabilities
The components of the Town’s net pension liabilities for each PERS as of June 30, 2018, were as follows:

Total pension liability
Plan fiduciary net position
Town's net pension liability

Town
Plan
$ 25,992,878
18,865,295
$ 7,127,583

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total pension liability

Police
Plan
$ 18,828,096
13,792,852
$
5,035,244

72.6%

Fire
Plan
1,872,167
1,501,886
370,281

$
$

73.3%

80.2%

The components of the changes in the net pension liability for each of the PERS for the year ended June 30, 2018,
were as follows:

Town Plan
Balance as of June 30, 2017
Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest
Effect of plan changes
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses
Effect of assumptions changes
Contributions - employer
Contributions - employee
Net investment income
Benefit payments, including refunds
Administrative expense
Net changes
Balance as of June 30, 2018

Total Pension
Liability
(a)
$
24,779,623

$

102

608,909
1,728,187
301,441
4,188
(1,429,470)
1,213,255
25,992,878

Increase (Decrease)
Plan Fiduciary
Net Pension
Net Position
Liability
(b)
(a) - (b)
$
18,014,532
$
6,765,091

$

1,030,611
10,196
1,304,145
(1,429,470)
(64,719)
850,763
18,865,295

$

608,909
1,728,187
301,441
4,188
(1,030,611)
(10,196)
(1,304,145)
64,719
362,492
7,127,583
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)
Net Pension Liabilities (Continued)

Police Plan
Balance as of June 30, 2017
Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses
Effect of assumptions changes
Contributions - employer
Contributions - employee
Net investment income
Benefit payments, including refunds
Administrative expense
Net changes
Balance as of June 30, 2018
Fire Plan
Balance as of June 30, 2017
Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses
Effect of assumptions changes
Contributions - employer
Net investment income
Benefit payments, including refunds
Net changes
Balance as of June 30, 2018

Total Pension
Liability
(a)
$
18,581,290

Increase (Decrease)
Plan Fiduciary
Net Pension
Net Position
Liability
(b)
(a) - (b)
$
13,357,466
$
5,223,824

$

291,187
1,277,727
(67,435)
(1,254,673)
246,806
18,828,096

$

1,928,220

$

33,608
128,944
(113,522)
(105,083)
(56,053)
1,872,167 $
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$

586,962
158,336
965,464
(1,254,673)
(20,703)
435,386
13,792,852

$

291,187
1,277,727
(67,435)
(586,962)
(158,336)
(965,464)
20,703
(188,580)
5,035,244

$

1,438,550

$

489,670

$

33,608
128,944
(113,522)
(97,342)
(71,077)
(119,389)
370,281

97,342
71,077
(105,083)
63,336
1,501,886

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS AND PENSION PLANS (Continued)
Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)
Net Pension Liabilities (Continued)
Actuarial Assumptions - The Town’s net pension liabilities were measured as of June 30, 2018. The total pension
liabilities were determined by actuarial valuations as of July 1, 2017 for each plan, using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation
Salary increases, including inflation
Investment rate of return, net

Town
Plan
2.75%
Age related
7.00%

Police
Plan
2.75%
Graded by age
7.00%

Fire
Plan
2.75%
Not applicable
6.75%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table with generational projection per
Scale AA.
The long-term expected rates of return on investments were determined using a building-block method in which
best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the longterm expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class included in the plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2018 are summarized in the following table:

Asset Class
Cash
Fixed income
Equity
Other

Town
Plan
3%
35%
59%
3%

Target Allocation
Police
Plan
3%
35%
59%
3%

Fire
Plan
0%
45%
52%
3%

Long-term Expected
Real Rate of Return
Town
Police
Plan
Plan
3.3%
3.3%
6.3%
6.3%
6.7%
6.7%
6.0%
6.0%

Fire
Plan
0.0%
6.3%
6.7%
6.0%

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liabilities were 7.00% for both the Town and
Police plans and 6.75% for the Fire plan. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and that Town contributions will be
made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rates.
Based on those assumptions, each plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on each plan’s
investments were applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liabilities.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)
Net Pension Liabilities (Continued)
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liabilities to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following presents the net pension
liabilities of the Town, calculated using the current discount rate for each plan as well as what the Town’s net
pension liabilities would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower or 1
percentage point higher than the current rate:
Current
1% Decrease
Discount Rate
1% Increase
Town Plan - Net pension liability
$
9,979,274 $
7,127,583
$
4,744,263
Police Plan - Net pension liability
7,141,618
5,035,244
3,273,110
Fire Plan - Net pension liability
570,020
370,281
210,594
$
17,690,912 $
12,533,108 $
8,227,967
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town recognized pension expense of $1,941,293 for the Town Plan, $873,513
for the Police Plan and $83,142 for the Fire Plan. At June 30, 2018, the Town reported deferred outflows and inflows
of resources related to each plan from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows
of Resources
Town Plan:
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments

$

Police Plan:
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Fire Plan:
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Total Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

$
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244,163
382,179

Deferred (Inflows)
of Resources
$

(101,322)
-

Net Deferred
Outflows/(Inflows)
of Resources
$

142,841
382,179

729,317
1,355,659

(400,928)
(502,250)

328,389
853,409

26,031
428,751

(276,331)
-

(250,300)
428,751

551,970
1,006,752

(341,367)
(617,698)

210,603
389,054

36,330
-

(162,280)
(42,625)

(125,950)
(42,625)

64,131
100,461

(7,462)
(212,367)

56,669
(111,906)

2,462,872

$

(1,332,315)

$

1,130,557

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS AND PENSION PLANS (Continued)
Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources (Continued)
Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to each of the Town’s plans will be
recognized as a component of pension expense in future years as follows:
Year ended June 30,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

$

Town Plan
488,780
269,351
49,377
45,738
163
853,409

Police Plan
$
364,136
153,186
(118,574)
(9,694)
$
389,054

$

$

Fire Plan
17,207
4,383
(11,055)
(8,566)
(13,675)
(100,200)
(111,906)

Plan Financial Statements
The following presents the statement of fiduciary net position and the statement of changes in fiduciary net position
for each of the Town’s defined benefit plans as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018.
Town Plan
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Total assets
NET POSITION
Restricted for pension benefits

$

Police Plan

Fire Plan

348,668
18,516,627
18,865,295

$

699,435
13,093,417
13,792,852

$

16,829
1,485,057
1,501,886

$ 18,865,295

$

13,792,852

$

1,501,886

106

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS AND PENSION PLANS (Continued)
Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (Continued)
Town Plan
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Employer
Plan members
Total contributions
Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends
Net change in the fair value of
investments, net of fees
Total investment earnings
Total additions
DEDUCTIONS
Benefit payments
Administration
Total deductions

$

1,030,611
10,196
1,040,807

$

586,962
158,336
745,298

Fire Plan

$

97,342
97,342

105,122

137,940

12,787

1,199,023
1,304,145
2,344,952

827,524
965,464
1,710,762

58,290
71,077
168,419

1,429,470
64,719
1,494,189

1,254,673
20,703
1,275,376

105,083
105,083

850,763

435,386

63,336

18,014,532
$ 18,865,295

13,357,466
13,792,852

1,438,550
1,501,886

Change in net position
Net pension held in trust for pension benefits:
Beginning of year
End of year

Police Plan

$

$

Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System
Plan Description
The faculty and professional personnel of the Town’s Board of Education participates in the State of Connecticut’s
Teachers’ Retirement System (“TRS”), which is a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that
provides retirement, disability, survivorship and health insurance benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries.
The TRS is governed by Connecticut General Statue (“CGS”) Title 10, Chapter 167a and is administered by the
Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement Board (the “Board”). The TRS is included as a fiduciary pension trust fund in
the State of Connecticut’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and the Board issues publicly available financial
reports.
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Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (Continued)
Benefit Provisions
The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Employees are eligible to retire at age 60 with 20 years of
credited service in Connecticut, or 35 years of credited service including at least 25 years of service in Connecticut.
Normal Retirement: Retirement benefits for the employees are calculated as 2.0% of the average annual salary times
the years of credited service (maximum benefit is 75.0% of average annual salary during the 3 years of highest salary).
In addition, amounts derived from the accumulation of the 6.0% contributions made prior to July 1, 1989 and
voluntary contributions are payable.
Early Retirement: Employees are eligible after 25 years of credited service with a minimum of 20 years of Connecticut
service, or age 55 with 20 years of credited service with a minimum of 15 years of Connecticut service. Benefit
amounts are reduced by 6.0% per year for the first 5 years preceding normal retirement age and 4.0% per year for the
next 5 years preceding normal retirement age. Effective July 1, 1999, the reduction for individuals with 30 or more
years of service is 3.0% per year by which retirement precedes normal retirement date.
Minimum Benefit: Effective January 1, 1999, Public Act 98-251 provides a minimum monthly benefit of $1,200 to
teachers who retire under the normal retirement provisions and who have completed at least 25 years of full time
Connecticut service at retirement.
Disability Retirement: Employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits regardless of length of service. Five
years of credited service is required to be eligible for non-service related disability. Disability benefits are calculated as
2% per year of service times the average of the highest three years of pensionable salary, as defined per the Plan, but
not less than 15%, nor more than 50%. In addition, disability benefits under this plan (without regard to cost-of-living
adjustments) plus any initial award of Social Security benefits and workers' compensation cannot exceed 75% of
average annual salary. A plan member who leaves service and has attained 10 years of service will be entitled to 100%
of the accrued benefit as of the date of termination of covered employment. Benefits are payable at age 60, and early
retirement reductions are based on the number of years of service the member would have had if they had continued
work until age 60.
Pre-Retirement Death Benefit: The plan also offers a lump-sum return of contributions with interest or surviving spouse
benefit depending on length of service.
Contributions
Per CGS 10-183z, contribution requirements of active employees and the State are amended and certified by the
Board and appropriated by the General Assembly. The contributions are actuarially determined as an amount that,
when combined with employee contributions and investment earnings, is expected to finance the costs of the benefits
earned by employees during the year, with any additional amounts to finance any unfunded accrued liability.
In accordance with CGS Section 10-183z, the Town does not and is not legally responsible to contribute to the plan as
a special funding situation exists that requires the State to contribute 100% of an employer’s contributions on-behalf
of its participating municipalities at an actuarially determined rate. Effective January, 1, 2018, active employees are
required to contribute 7.0%, previously 6.0%, of their annual earnings to the plan.
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Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (Continued)
Administrative Expenses
Administrative costs of the plan are funded by the State.
Basis of Presentation
The collective net pension liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources, and pension expense for the TRS has
been measured as of June 30, 2017 based on an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2016. Since the Town
does not contribute directly to the TRS, the Town does not recognize its proportionate share of these amounts in its
financial statements. The information determined as of the June 30, 2017 measurement date for the TRS has been
utilized by the Town for reporting on-behalf revenues, expenditures and expenses for the year ended June 30, 2018
and for reporting the proportionate share of the collective net pension liability that is attributed to the Town as of
June 30, 2018.
Allocation Methodology
The schedule of employer allocations for the TRS was calculated based upon the fiscal year 2017 expected
contribution effort for each participating employer. The employer allocations were then applied to the net pension
liability and pension expense to determine the amount applicable to each employer. For fiscal year 2017, the Town’s
expected contribution effort for allocation purposes totaled $6,129,773 or 0.606% of the total expected contribution
effort. The Town has recognized this amount as an on-behalf payment into the TRS as intergovernmental revenues
and related education expenditures of the General Fund for the year ended June 30, 2018.
The components associated with the collective pension expense and deferred inflows and outflows of resources for
the TRS have been determined based on the fiduciary net position as audited by the State of Connecticut Auditors of
Public Accounts as part of the State of Connecticut’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2017. The portion of the collective pension expense allocated to the Town totaled $9,458,591. The
Town has recognized this amount as an operating contribution and related education expense of the governmental
activities for the year ended June 30, 2018.
The total collective net pension liability of participating employers for the TRS was approximately $13.502 billion as of
the June 30, 2017 measurement date. The portion attributed to the Town totaled $81,771,646 or approximately
0.606% of the total collective net pension liability.
Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016 using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation
Salary increase
Investment rate of return

2.75%
3.25% - 6.50%, including inflation
8.00%, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee and annuitant rates blended from ages
50 to 80, projected to the year 2020 using the BB improvement scale.
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Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (Continued)
Actuarial Assumptions (Continued)
Future cost-of-living increases for teachers who retired prior to September 1, 1992, are made in accordance with
increases in the Consumer Price Index, with a minimum of 3% and a maximum of 5% per annum. For teachers who
were members of the Teachers’ Retirement System before July 1, 2007, and retire on or after September 1, 1992,
pension benefit adjustments are made that are consistent with those provided for Social Security benefits on January
1 of the year granted, with a maximum of 6% per annum. If the return on assets in the previous year was less than
8.5%, the maximum increase is 1.5%. For teachers who were members of the Teachers’ Retirement System after July
1, 2007, pension benefit adjustments are made that are consistent with those provided for Social Security benefits on
January 1 of the year granted, with a maximum of 5% per annum. If the return on assets in the previous year was less
than 11.5%, the maximum increase is 3%, and if the return on the assets in the previous year was less than 8.5%, the
maximum increase is 1.0%.
Long-Term Rate of Return
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-normal distribution
analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce
the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major
asset class included in the plan's target asset allocation are summarized in the following table:

Target
Allocation
21.0%
18.0%
9.0%
7.0%
11.0%
8.0%
7.0%
5.0%
5.0%
3.0%
6.0%
100%

Asset Class
Large Cap U.S. Equities
Developed Non-U.S. Equities
Emerging Markets (Non-U.S.)
Real Estate
Private Equity
Alternative investments
Fixed Income (Core)
High Yield Bonds
Emerging Market Bonds
Inflation Linked Bonds
Cash

Long-term
Expected Real
Rate of Return
5.8%
6.6%
8.3%
5.1%
7.6%
4.1%
1.3%
3.9%
3.7%
1.0%
0.4%

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.00%. The projection of cash flows used to determine
the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that the
State contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and
the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension
liability.

110

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS AND PENSION PLANS (Continued)
Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (Continued)
Proportionate Share of the Collective Net Pension Liability
The following presents the proportionate share of the collective net pension liability attributed to the Town as of the
June 30, 2017 measurement date, calculated using a discount rate of 8.00%, as well as what the proportionate share
of the net pension liability attributed to the Town would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1percentage point lower (7.00%) or 1-percentage-point higher (9.00%) than the current rate:

Proportionate share of the net
pension liability attributed to the Town

1% Decrease
(7.00%)

Current
Discount
(8.00%)

$ 102,353,988

$ 81,771,646

1% Increase
(9.00%)
$

64,370,565

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN
The custodial employees of the Town’s Board of Education, covered under a collective bargaining agreement with the
Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen and Helpers Local 443 (an affiliate of the International Brotherhood of
Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen and Helpers of America), participate in the New England Teamsters and
Trucking Industry Pension Fund (Fund). For each hour for which a covered employee receives pay, the Board of
Education is required to make a contribution of $3.16, but no more than $126.40 per week for any one employee. The
total Board of Education payroll for the year ended June 30, 2018 covered by this plan amounted to $1,691,300. The
total contribution for the year ended June 30, 2018 amounted to $273,196.
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
The Town offers certain full-time employees a deferred compensation plan, which includes an employer matching
provision, created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. Deferred compensation is not available to
participants until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency. All amounts of compensation deferred
under the plans, all property and rights purchased with those amounts, and all income attributable to those
amounts, property or rights are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the plan participants and their beneficiaries.
Employer contributions are determined based on agreements for each participant’s group or collective bargaining
unit. The Town has no trustee or other fiduciary responsibilities related to participant accounts and therefore the
plan is not accounted for in the fiduciary fund financial statements of the Town.
Amounts contributed by the Town into this plan totaled $100,824 for the year ended June 30, 2018.
NOTE 10 - OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Town and Board of Education Plan
Plan Description
Plan administration - The Town provides a single-employer other post-employment benefits plan to all Town
employees retiring under the Town of Madison’s Retiree Medical Program. The level of these benefits is determined
by contract for all union employees and by a Town ordinance for all non-represented employees. The Town does
not issue a stand-alone financial report for the plan.

111

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 10 - OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
Town and Board of Education Plan (Continued)
Plan Description (Continued)
Plan membership - As of July 1, 2017, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation, membership data was as
follows:
Current retirees and eligible surviving spouses
Current active participants

65
434
499

Benefits Provided
Unrepresented Retired Employees - Health Insurance is offered to non-represented, retired employees, between the
ages of 55 and 65, receiving pension benefits. The retired employee is responsible to pay the full premium coverage
on a timely basis.
NAGE RI-215 Building & Grounds Retired Employees - Retiree health insurance is offered to retired employees,
between the ages of 55 and 65, receiving pension benefits. The retired employee is responsible to pay the full
premium coverage on a timely basis. Premium payments are due on the 20th of the month prior to the coverage
month.
AFSCME Police - For employees hired before January 1, 2006, the Town pays the full cost of retiree medical
insurance for the retiree and his/her spouse. Retirees and their spouse must opt for and maintain medical insurance
coverage at the time of retirement or they will forfeit this benefit. For those retired participants hired before
January 1, 2006, and their spouses, who reach Medicare/Medicaid eligibility, the Town will provide a supplemental
health insurance coverage for both for life at no cost to the retiree or spouse. This is a Medicare Supplementary
plan in which Medicare is the primary coverage. No health insurance benefits are offered to those retirees hired
after January 1, 2006.
UPSEU Emergency Dispatchers – No post-retirement benefits are provided for health insurance for retirees.
Board of Education - The Board of Education provides certain post-retirement benefits to retirees through
negotiated contracts. Eligibility for benefits are as follows:
Teachers/Administrators - Post-retirement insurance can be purchased through Medicare eligibility; if not eligible
for Medicare.
Para-professionals/Secretaries - If retiring under pension, insurance may be purchased between ages 55 and 65.
Retirees can purchase Medicare Supplementary plan after age 65.
Custodians - Post-retirement insurance can be purchased through Medicare eligibility; if not eligible for Medicare.
Cafeteria Workers - No post-retirement benefits are provided for health insurance for retirees.
Funding Policy
The Town currently pays for its other post-employment benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. As of June 30, 2017, the
Town has not established a trust fund to irrevocably segregate assets to fund liabilities associated with these other
post-employment benefits, which would require the reporting of a trust fund in accordance with GASB guidelines.
The contribution requirements of plan members and the Town are also negotiated with the various unions
representing the employees.
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Total OPEB Liability
The Town’s OPEB liability reported as of June 30, 2018 totaled $19,634,018. The total OPEB liability was measured
as of June 30, 2018 and determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2017.
Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs - The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2018 was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless
otherwise specified:
Discount rate
Inflation
Medical trend rates
Salary increases, including inflation

3.87%
2.70%
5.55% - 4.60% over 80 years
Graded by service

The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer 20 (GO 20 Index) as of the measurement date, which represents
municipal bond trends based on a portfolio of 20 general obligation bonds that mature in 20 years.
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table with generational projection per
Scale AA.
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
Total OPEB
Liability
Balance as of June 30, 2017
Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest
Changes of benefit terms
Changes of assumptions and differences
between expected and actual experience
Benefit payments
Net changes
Balance as of June 30, 2018

$ 20,096,051
339,036
720,567
(901,124)
(620,512)
(462,033)
$ 19,634,018

Changes of assumptions primarily reflects a change in the discount rate from 3.58% to 3.87%.
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following presents the total OPEB liability
of the Town, as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that
is 1-percentage-point lower (2.87%) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.87%) than the current discount rate:

Total OPEB liability

$

1% Decrease
23,022,852
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Current
Discount Rate
$
19,634,018

$

1% Increase
16,949,279
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Changes in the Total OPEB Liability (Continued)
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates - The following presents the total
OPEB liability of the Town, as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current
healthcare cost trend rates:
Current
1% Decrease
Discount Rate
1% Increase
Total OPEB liability
$
16,664,754 $
19,634,018
$
23,397,297
OPEB Expense and Deferred Inflows of Resources
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town recognized OPEB expense of $963,739. As of June 30, 2018, the Town
reported deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following source:
Changes of assumptions

$

805,260

Amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized as a reduction of OPEB
expense as follows:
Year ended June 30,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

$

95,864
95,864
95,864
95,864
95,864
325,940
805,260

Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System
Plan Description
The faculty and professional personnel of the Town’s Board of Education participates in the State of Connecticut’s
Teachers’ Retirement System (“TRS”), which is a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that
provides retirement, disability, survivorship and health insurance benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries.
The TRS is governed by Connecticut General Statue (“CGS”) Title 10, Chapter 167a and is administered by the
Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement Board (the “Board”). The OPEB trust fund is included in the TRS, and the
TRS is included in the State of Connecticut audit as a pension trust fund.
Benefit Provisions
The Plan covers retired teachers and administrators of public schools in the State who are receiving benefits from
the Plan. The Plan provides healthcare insurance benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses. Any member that is
currently receiving a retirement or disability benefit through the Plan is eligible to participate in the healthcare
portion of the Plan. Subsidized Local School District Coverage provides a subsidy paid to members still receiving
coverage through their former employer and the TRB Sponsored Medicare Supplemental Plans provide coverage for
those participating in Medicare, but not receiving Subsidized Local School District Coverage.
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Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (Continued)
Benefit Provisions (Continued)
Any member that is not currently participating in Medicare Parts A & B is eligible to continue health care coverage
with their former employer. A subsidy of up to $110 per month for a retired member plus an additional $110 per
month for a spouse enrolled in a local school district plan is provided to the school district to first offset the retiree’s
share of the cost of coverage, any remaining portion is used to offset the district’s cost. The subsidy amount is set by
statute, and has not increased since July of 1996. A subsidy amount of $220 per month may be paid for a retired
member, spouse or the surviving spouse of a member who has attained the normal retirement age to participate in
Medicare, is not eligible for Part A of Medicare without cost, and contributes at least $220 per month towards
coverage under a local school district plan.
Any member that is currently participating in Medicare Parts A & B is eligible to either continue health care
coverage with their former employer, if offered, or enroll in the plan sponsored by the System. If they elect to
remain in the plan with their former employer, the same subsidies as above will be paid to offset the cost of
coverage.
If a member participating in Medicare Parts A & B so elects, they may enroll in one of the CTRB Sponsored Medicare
Supplemental Plans. Active members, retirees, and the State pay equally toward the cost of the basic coverage
(medical and prescription drug benefits).
Employees are eligible to retire at age 60 with 20 years of credited service in Connecticut, or 35 years of credited
service including at least 25 years of service in Connecticut.
Contributions
Per CGS 10-183z, which reflects Public Act 79-436 as amended), contribution requirements of active employees and
the State of Connecticut are amended and certified by the TRB and appropriated by the General Assembly. The
State pays for one third of plan costs through and annual appropriation in the General Fund. School district
employers are not required to make contributions to the Plan.
The cost of providing plan benefits is financed on a pay-as-you-go basis as follows: active teachers’ pay for one third
of the Plan costs through a contribution of 1.25% of their pensionable salaries, and retired teachers pay for one
third of the Plan costs through monthly premiums, which helps reduce the cost of health insurance for eligible
retired members and dependents.
Contributions remitted by the State are recognized when legally due, based upon statutory requirements.
Administrative Expenses
Administrative costs of the Plan are to be paid by the General Assembly per Section 10-183r of the Connecticut
General Statutes.

115

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 10 - OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (Continued)
Basis of Presentation
The collective net OPEB liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources, and OPEB expense for the TRS has
been measured as of June 30, 2017 based on an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2016. Since the Town
does not contribute directly to the TRS, the Town does not recognize its proportionate share of these amounts in its
financial statements. The information determined as of the June 30, 2017 measurement date for the TRS has been
utilized by the Town for reporting on-behalf revenues, expenditures and expenses for the year ended June 30, 2018
and for reporting the proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability that is attributed to the Town as of
June 30, 2018.
The components associated with the OPEB expense and deferred inflows and outflows of resources have been
determined using the unrecognized portions of each year’s experience and assumption changes for the year ended
June 30, 2017.
Allocation Methodology
The schedule of allocations have been prepared to provide the total amount of employer contributions from the
State and the proportionate share percentages that have been determined based on these contributions. Based on
these percentages the proportionate share amounts of the net OPEB liability associated with each participating
employer and the employer OPEB expense and revenue for State support for each participating employer for the
year ending June 30, 2017.
For fiscal year 2017, the Town’s expected contribution effort for allocation purposes totaled $120,650 or 0.606% of
the total expected contribution effort. The Town has recognized this amount as an on-behalf payment into the TRS
as intergovernmental revenues and related education expenditures of the General Fund for the year ended June 30,
2018.
The components associated with the collective OPEB expense and deferred inflows and outflows of resources for
the TRS have been determined based on the fiduciary net position as audited by the State of Connecticut Auditors
of Public Accounts as part of the State of Connecticut’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2017. The portion of the collective OPEB expense allocated to the Town totaled $975,429. The
Town has recognized this amount as an operating contribution and related education expense of the governmental
activities for the year ended June 30, 2018.
The total collective net OPEB liability of participating employers for the TRS was approximately $3.475 billion as of
the June 30, 2017 measurement date. The portion attributed to the Town totaled $21,047,100 or approximately
0.606% of the total collective net OPEB liability.
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TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 10 - OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (Continued)
Actuarial Assumptions
The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016 using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Healthcare cost trend rates:
Pre- Medicare
Medicare

2.75%
3.25% - 6.50%, including inflation
2.75%, net of investment related expense
7.25% for 2017 decreasing to an ultimate
rate of 5.00% by 2022
7.25% for 2017 decreasing to an ultimate
rate of 5.00% by 2022

Mortality rates were based on the RPH-2014 White Collar table with employee and annuitant rates blended from
ages 50 to 80, projected to the year 2020 using the BB improvement scale.
Long-Term Rate of Return
The long-term expected rate of return on plan assets is reviewed as part of the actuarial valuation process. Several
factors are considered in evaluation the long-term rate of return assumption, including the Plan’s current asset
allocations and a log-normal distribution analysis using the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of
return (expected return, net of investment expense and inflation) for each major asset class.
The long-term expected rate of return was determined by weighing the expected future real rates of return by the
target asset allocation percentage and then adding expected inflation. The assumption is not expected to change
absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation assumption, or a fundamental change in
the market that alters expected returns in future years.
The target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:
Long-term
Target
Expected Real
Asset Class
Rate of Return
Allocation
U.S. Treasuries (Cash Equivalents)
100.0%
0.04%
Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.56%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate was performed in accordance with the applicable standards. The projection’s basis was
an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2016. In addition to the actuarial methods and assumptions of the
June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation, the following actuarial methods and assumptions were used in the projection of
cash flows:
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TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 10 - OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement System (Continued)
Discount Rate (Continued)
o

o
o
o
o

Total payroll for the initial projection year consists of the payroll of the active membership present
on the valuation date. In subsequent projection years, total payroll was assumed to increase
annual at a rate of 3.25%.
Employee contributions were assumed to be made at the current member contribution rate.
Employee contributions for future plan members were used to reduce the estimated amount of
total service costs for future plan members.
No future employer contributions were assumed to be made.
For future plan members, contribution inflows were further reduced by the estimated amount of
total service costs for future plan members not financed by their member contributions.

Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be depleted in 2018 and, as a result,
the Municipal Bond Index Rate was used in the determination of the single equivalent rate.
Proportionate Share of the Collective Net Pension Liability
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following presents the proportionate share
of the collective net OPEB liability attributed to the Town as of the June 30, 2017 measurement date, calculated
using a discount rate of 3.56%, as well as what the proportionate share of the net OPEB liability attributed to the
Town would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (2.56%) or 1-percentagepoint higher (4.56%) than the current rate:
1.00%
Decrease
(2.56%)
Proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability attributed to the Town

$ 25,365,126

Current
Rate
(3.56%)
$

21,047,100

1.00%
Increase
(4.56%)
$

17,651,888

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates - The following presents the
proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability attributed to the Town as of the June 30, 2017 measurement
date, calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher
than the current healthcare cost trend rates:
1% Decrease
in Trend Rates
Proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability attributed to the Town

$ 17,329,357
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$

Current
Trend Rates

1% Increase
in Trend Rates

21,047,100

$

26,052,586

TOWN OF MADISON, CONNECTICUT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
NOTE 11 - RISK MANAGEMENT
The Town is exposed to various risks of loss including torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors and
omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Town generally obtains commercial insurance for
management of these risks. Neither the Town nor its insurers have settled claims, which exceeded the Town’s
insurance coverage in any of the last three fiscal years. In addition, there have been no significant reductions in any
insurance coverage from amounts maintained in the prior year.
The Town provides medical and dental coverage to employees through a self-insured plan. The Town retains the risk
of loss under the plan and claims are processed by a third party administrator. The Town utilizes a Health Insurance
Internal Service Fund to report the activities of the plan. The Town contributes based on estimates made using
historical data. The Town covers all claims up to $150,000 per employee per year with a stop-loss policy covering
amounts exceeding this limit. The Town has also purchased an aggregate stop-loss policy that would cover claims
exceeding 125% of the total estimated claims for the plan year. The Town establishes claims liabilities based on
estimates of claims that have been incurred but not reported as of year end. This estimate is based on the ultimate
costs of settling the claims, which include past experience data, inflation and other future economic and societal
factors and incremental claim adjustment expenses, net of estimated subrogation recoveries.
Changes in the claims liability for the previous two fiscal years were as follows:

Year Ended
June 30
2017
2018

Claims Payable
Beginning of
Year
$

780,000
680,000

Claims and
Changes in
Estimates
$

9,342,908
9,741,960

Claim
Payment
$

9,442,908
9,630,960

Claims Payable
End of
Year
$

680,000
791,000

The Town also maintains the risk related to heart and hypertension claims payable to police employees under State
benefit requirements. The Town does not maintain a separate cash reserve to cover the benefits provided by the
heart and hypertension program and does not prefund the benefits to be paid in future years. Expenditures related
to this program are funded annually through General Fund appropriations. The estimated liability at June 30, 2018 is
$1,196,414. This liability is reported in the government-wide financial statements.
NOTE 12 - CONTINGENCIES
The Town has contingent liabilities with respect to pending litigation, claims and disputes that existed as of June 30,
2018. The liability with respect to such matters, if any, is not presently determinable; however, it is the opinion of
Town management that any liabilities will not have a material effect on the financial position of the Town.
The Town receives state and federal grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit by the grantor
agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor agency for any expenditure
disallowed under terms of the grant. Based on prior experience, Town management believes such disallowances, if
any, will not have a material effect on the financial position of the Town.
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NOTE 13 - IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE
In November 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations. This Statement
addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations. (AROs). An ARO is a legally
enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset. A government that has legal
obligations to perform future asset retirement activities related to its tangible capital assets should recognize a
liability based on the guidance in this Statement which (1) establishes criteria for determining the timing and
pattern of recognition of a liability and a corresponding deferred outflow of resources for AROs, (2) requires the
measurement of an ARO to be based on the best estimate of the current value of outlays expected to be incurred,
and (3) requires the current value of a government’s AROs to be adjusted for the effects of general inflation or
deflation at least annually. The requirements of this statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period
beginning July 1, 2019. The Town is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this Statement on its
financial statements.
In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. The objective of this Statement is to
improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes
and how those activities should be reported. This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of
all state and local governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the
assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria
are included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary
activities. The requirements of this statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1, 2019.
The Town is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this Statement on its financial statements.
In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the
information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by
governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring
recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and
recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It
establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the
right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an
intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of
resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities.
The requirements of this statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1, 2020. The Town
is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this Statement on its financial statements.
In April 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings
and Direct Placements. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in
notes to government financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. It also
clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing information related to debt. The requirements
of this Statement are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1, 2018. The Town is currently
evaluating the potential impact of adopting this Statement on its financial statements.
In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a
Construction Period. The objective of this Statement are (a) to enhance the relevance and comparability of
information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and (b) to simplify accounting for
interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. The requirements of this Statement should be
applied prospectively and are effective for the Town’s reporting period beginning July 1, 2020. The Town is currently
evaluating the potential impact of adopting this Statement on its financial statements.
To view the CAFR in its entirety with Supplemental information, please visit www.madisonct.org.
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TOWN OFFICERS
First Selectman

Thomas J. Banisch

Board of Selectmen

Jean W. Ferris
Alfred J. Goldberg
Scott M. Murphy
Bruce H. Wilson

Comptroller
Asst. Comptroller
Dir. of Finance
Dir. of Human Resources
Town Clerk
Tax Collector
Assessor
Building Inspector
Zoning Enforcement
Dir. of Planning & Economic Dev.
Town Engineer & Public Works Dir.
Inland/Wetlands Officer
Tree Warden
Registrars of Voters

Donald Oslander
Cheryl Kuszpa
Stacy Nobitz
Debra Milardo
Nancy J. Martucci
Erin Johnson
Orietta Nucolo
Vincent Garofalo
John DeLaura
David Anderson
John Iennaco
Robert Kuchta
Robert Kuchta
Peter Metz ( R )
William Gowanlock ( D )
Trent Joseph
Peter Barrett
Berchem, Moses & Devlin, P.C.
Scott Cochran
Scot Erskine
Austin Hall
Samuel DeBurra
Liz Amendola
Samuel DeBurra
Brian Koczak
Robert Gilhuly
Steve Adkins
Richard Corcoran
Beth Crowley, Director
Ted Kennedy (D)
Noreen Kokoruda (R)

Director of Health
Judge of Probate
Town Counsel
Dir. Youth and Family Svcs.
Dir. of Beach & Rec.
Dir. of Senior Services
Dir. of Emergency Mgmt.
Animal Control Officer
Fire Marshal
Deputy Fire Marshal
Deputy Fire Marshal
State Harbormaster
VNA Community Healthcare
Scranton Memorial Library
State Senator
State Representative
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BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
ELECTED OFFICIALS
ASSESSMENT APPEALS BOARD
Lynn Hubbard
William Lewis
Richard Robinson
Ian Taylor
Shirley Taylor

BOARD OF SELECTMEN
Thomas J. Banisch
Jean W. Ferris
Alfred J. Goldberg
Joan M. Walker
Bruce H. Wilson

BOARD OF EDUCATION
Jessica Bowler
Galen Cawley
Greg DeSantis
Seth C. Klaskin
Happy Marino
Violet McNerny
Thomas Pellegrino
Emily Rosenthal
Kathleen Stein, Chair

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS
Jason Brown
Richard Gilbert
Thomas Kelty
Ned Moore
Stephen Somma
ALTERNATES
Catherine Ferrante
William Piggott
Peter Roos

BOARD OF FINANCE
Mark Casparino
Judith Friedman
Jean Fitzgerald, Chair
Kenneth Kaminsky
Kevin Kranzler
Bennett Pudlin

APPOINTIVE BOARDS
BAUER PARK ADVISORY COMMITTEE
James R. Henneberry
Holly Johnson
Ann Judd
John Paulson
Theodore Rahmann, Chr.
Susan Stark
Ruthanna Terrerri
Kristin Wildermann
Vacancy

BEACH & RECREATION
Rob Card
Vince Dussich
Pamela Green
Shane Kokoruda
Mary Patricia Nardino, Chair
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BLIGHT APPEALS
John Dean
Richard Gedney, Chair
Nils Gyllensten
Joseph Maco
Vacancy

BUILDING CODE OF APPEALS
Mitch Cohan
Tom MacDonald
Benson Werthan, Chr.
Vacancies (2)

COMMITTEE FOR LAND ACQUISITION
Seonaid Hay
Kenneth J. Munro, Jr
Wanda Pellegrino
Vacancies (3)

CONSERVATION COMMISSION
Christine Bouchard
Fran Brady
Heather M. Crawford,Chr.
Alex Cushing
Richard Gedney
Rachel Klein
Vacancy

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION
James Ball
Ryan A. Duques, Chr.
Anne Foley
Lisa Miksis
Edward Pellegrino
Mark Steffen
Chris Weiler

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BOARD
Alfred J. Goldberg, Chr.
Paul Kessinger
Joseph Maco
James K. Matteson
Robert Newman

ENERGY AND EFFICIENCY
William Cash
Ron Hick
Tracy Juengst
Francis Pullaro
Woodie Weiss, Chr.
ALTERNATES
Dick Evarts
Guy Mannino

FIELDS ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Kenneth Carone (Travel Baseball)
Matt Starkey (Soccer)
John Reh (Football)
Adam Boyce (Little League)
Thomas Swank (Lacrosse)
Vacancy (Adult Softball)

FIREMEN'S BENEFIT
Alfred J. Goldberg, Chr.
Paul Kessinger
Joseph Maco
James K. Matteson
Robert Newman
David Newton (Fire Rep)
Vacancy (Fire Rep)

FLOOD & EROSION CONTROL
Thomas Dolan
Vacancies (4)
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HISTORIC COMMISSION
Eileen Banisch
Eric Berg
Thomas Boyle
Susan Cartledge
John Lind, Chr.
ALTERNATES
Peter Clement
Carol Snow
Vacancy

INLAND WETLANDS
Glen W. Falk
L. Kealoha Friedenburg
John Mathieu
David Newton
C. Thomas Paul
Lee Schumacher
Robert Zdon, Chr.
ALTERNATES
Joseph Budrow
Ron Bodinson
Vacancy

JOB EVALUATION COMMITTEE
Melanie L. Clark, Chr.
Vince Dussich
Peter Thomas

LANDSCAPE COMMITTEE
Vacancies (12)

PLANNING & ZONING
Joseph S. Bunovsky, Jr.
Thomas Burland
Ronald Clark, Chr.
Eliott Hitchcock
James K. Matteson
John Mathers
Amanda Mitchell
Joel S. Miller
Brian Richardson

PLANNING & ZONING ALTERNATES
Seonaid Hay
Giselle McDowall

POLICE COMMISSION
Thomas Cartledge
Edward Dowling
Marietta S. Lee
Peggy Lyons
Eric Thornburg, Chr.

POLICE RETIREMENT
Alfred J. Goldberg, Chr.
Paul Kessinger
James K. Matteson
Robert Newman
Jeremy Yorke, Police Rep.

ROCKLAND PRESERVE COMMITTEE
Tim Burton
Jason Engelhardt
Richard Nace
David Okamoto
Joseph Oslander, Chr.

ROCKLAND PRESERVE COMMITTEE ALT.
David Erff
Vacancy
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SALT MEADOW PARK GOVERNANCE
Warren Hartmann
Pat Melady
William Piggott
Virginia Raff
Alicia Sullivan, Chr.
Joseph Walker
Vacancy
ALTERNATES
Ron Bodinson
Vacancy

SENIOR SERVICES COMMISSION
James R. Ball
John Dean
Ruth Doina
Dale Kach
Dr. Gerard Kerins, Co-Chr.
Lori Murphy
Wendy Oberg, Co-Chr.
Sherry Puricelli
James Ryan

SHELLFISH COMMISSION
Leo Foligno
Terry Kensler
David Newton
Stephen Nikituk, Chr.
Edward Raff, Jr.
Perry Rianhard
Eric Thal
ALTERNATES
Kristine Capstick
Robert Cika
Vacancy

SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL
Vacancies (3)

VETERANS' ADVISORY JOINT COMMITTEE
Joel Miller, Chair
Helen Keiser-Pedersen
Vacancy
Fred Brisbois (Guilford)
Larry Santamaria (Guilford)
Ronald Vedrani (Guilford)

WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY
Mark Aron
Graham Curtis
Thomas Hansen, Chr.
Tom Lonsdale
Peter Pastore

YOUTH & FAMILY SERVICES BOARD
David Buller
Stacy Bungiro
Pamela Davies
Kathleen Dess, Chr.
Tony Diona
Jacqueline McKeown, Student
Lianne W. Herdle
Lauren Kaplan, Student
John Rogers
Kathleen Rossini
Arthur Symonds
Robert Xeller
Vacancies (2)
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SERVICES PROVIDED BY TOWN DEPARTMENTS
Permits, Applications, Forms, etc.
Beach & Recreation
Beach Passes
Before/After School Program
Boat Rack Rentals
Community Garden Rentals
Facility Rentals/Reservations
Field Reservations
Mooring Post Rentals
Program Registrations
Recreation Passes
Building Department
Building Permits
Certificate of Occupancy
Demolition Permits
Electrical Permits
Heating Permits
Plumbing Permits
Pool Permits
Roofing Permits
Siding Permits
Tent Permits
Fire Marshal
Blasting Permits
Building Permits
(not 1&2 fam. occupancies)
Burning Permits
Certificate of Occupancy
Health Department
Hazardous Waste Information
Restaurant Inspections
Septic Permits
Well Drilling Permits
Land Use Office
Accessory Apartment Permits
Coastal Site Plan Review Appl.
Demolition Waiting Period Appl.
Downtown Village District Appl.
Earth Removal/Fill Applications
Home Occupation Permits
Regulated Activity Permits
Inland Wetlands Applications
Regulation Amendments
Permanent Sign Permits

Land Use Office Con't
Site Plan Applications
Temporary Sign Permits
Special Exception Permit Appl.
Subdivision and Lot Line
Modification Applications
Variance Applications
Zone Boundary Change

Senior Services Con't
Medicaid/Title XIX
Medicare/Insurance Assistance
Medicare Savings Program
Operation Fuel Applications
Rent Rebate Applications
SNAP (Food Stamps) Applications
Social Security

Police Department
Accident Reports
Background Checks
Business Registrations
DMV Changes of Address
Fingerprinting
Good Conduct/Criminal History
Pistol Permits
Raffle Permits
Residential/Business Alarm
Registration - Town Ordinance
Temp. Liquor License
Vacant House Reports
Vendor Permits

Town Clerk
Absentee ballots
Birth Certificates
Death Certificates
Development Maps
Dog Licenses
Land Records
Liquor License Recording
Marriage License
Notary Services
Trade Name Certificates
Veteran's Discharge Filing
Voter Registration

Public Works
Bulky Waste Permits
Road Excavation Permits
Selectmen's Office
Auction Permits
Banner Permits
Lodging Licenses
Senior Services
Access to the CT Homecare
Program for Elders
Access to Legal Services
Access to Senior Housing
Options
Conn Map Applications
Conn Pace Applications
CT and Town Senior Tax
Abatement Program
Energy Assistance
Financial Assistance
Handicap Parking Permits
Meals-on-Wheels Information
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Youth and Family Services
Access to Madison Community
Food Bank/Holiday Baskets
Adult Mental Health Asst. Program
Child and Youth Counseling Services
Conn MAP Applications
Conn PACE Applications
Energy Assistance
Family Assistance Programs
Food Stamp Appl.
Husky Health Insurance Applications
Mentor/Mentee Appl.
Peer Advocate/Appl.
Prevention Program Dev. and Maint.
Rent Rebate Appl. For Disabled
SAGA Applications

TELEPHONE DIRECTORY
TOWN DEPARTMENTS
ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER
ASSESSOR
BEACH & RECREATION
BUILDING DEPARTMENT
SENIOR CENTER
FINANCE DEPARTMENT
FIRE MARSHAL
HEALTH DEPARTMENT
HUMAN RESOURCES
INLAND WETLANDS
PLANNING & ZONING
POLICE (ROUTINE)
PROBATE COURT
PUBLIC WORKS
SCHOOL ADMINISTRATION
SCRANTON MEMORIAL LIBRARY
SELECTMEN’S OFFICE
SOCIAL SERVICES
TAX COLLECTOR
TOWN CLERK
YOUTH & FAMILY SERVICES

245-2721
245-5652
245-5623
245-5618
245-5627
245-5606
245-5617
245-5618
245-5603
245-5632
245-5632
245-2721
245-5661
245-5611
245-6300
245-7365
245-5602
245-5655
245-5641
245-5672
245-5645

POLICE, FIRE AND AMBULANCE EMERGENCIES
CALL 911
OTHER FACTS
AREA: 36.3 Square Miles
BOND RATING: Aaa- Moody’s Investors Service
AAA- Fitch Ratings
COUNTY: New Haven
DATE OF INCORPORATION: 1826
POPULATION: 18,259 (2015)
REGISTERED VOTERS: 13,355 (November 2016)
TOWN GRAND LIST: $2,888,908,312 (October 1, 2016)
TOWN TAX RATE: 27.30 (2016-2017)
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